### **AGREEMENT**

### BETWEEN

### THE HILLSBOROUGH EDUCATION ASSOCIATION

AND

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION

OF THE

TOWNSHIP OF HILLSBOROUGH

2002-2005

CA TRACT HER

THIS AGREEMENT ENTERED INTO THIS 19th day of May, 2003, BY AND. BETWEEN THE HILLSBOROUGH EDUCATION ASSOCIATION, hereinafter called the "Association", AND THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF HILLSBOROUGH, Somerset County, New Jersey, hereinafter called the "Board", to be effective July 1, 2002 and to continue in effect until June 30, 2005.

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

### SECTION ONE

		Applies to All Recognized Employees	Tan ~.					
			Page					
ARTICLE	1	RECOGNITION	2					
ARTICLE	2	AGENCY FEE	4					
ARTICLE	3	VANDALISM REIMBURSEMENT FUND	5					
ARTICLE	4	NEGOTIATION PROCEDURE	6					
ARTICLE	5	MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	7					
ARTICLE	6	MISCELLANEOUS	8					
	SECTION TWO							
	Libra Teach Teach Specia Psych Occup Coach Perso School Accou Assis	ies to Classroom Teachers, Nurses, arians, Social Workers, Supplemental ners, Reading Teachers, Home Instruction ners, Learning Disability Specialists, ial Education Teachers, School nologists employed after June 30, 1991, pational Therapists, Physical Therapists, nes, Ten and Twelve Month Office onnel, Library Assistants, Permanent ol Aides, Instructional Assistants, unting Clerks, Guidance Counselors, ent Assistance Counselors, Clerical stants, Data Entry Operator, Payroll keeper, and Head Bookkeeper	7					
ARTICLE	7	GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	. 10					
ARTICLE	8	SCHOOL CALENDAR	14					
ARTICLE	9	TEACHING HOURS AND TEACHING LOAD	14					
ARTICLE	10	TEACHER ASSIGNMENT	17					
ARTICLE	11	TRANSFERS AND REASSIGNMENTS	17					
ARTICLE	12	PROMOTIONS	18					
ARTICLE	13	TEACHER EVALUATION	13					
ARTICLE	14	SICK LEAVE	20					

ARTICLE	15	LEAVES OF ABSENCE	22
ARTICLE		SABBATICAL LEAVES	26
ARTICLE		SUBSTITUTES	28
		PROFESSIONAL IMPROVEMENT	28
ARTICLE		•	30
ARTICLE	19	SUBCONTRACTING	
ARTICLE	20	SALARIES AND INSURANCE	30
ARTICLE	21	TEACHER RETIREMENT PLAN	34
ARTICLE	22	OFFICE PERSONNEL	34
ARTICLE	23	LIBRARY ASSISTANTS	38
ARTICLE	24	INSTRUCTIONAL ASSISTANTS	39
ARTICLE	25	CLERICAL ASSISTANTS	40
ARTICLE	26	PERMANENT SCHOOL AIDES	41
		SECTION THREE	
		es to Custodians, Maintenance Personnel, Transportation Drivers, and Mechanics	
ARTICLE	27	GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	44
ARTICLE	28	RIGHTS AND PRIVILEGES OF THE PARTIES	48
ARTICLE	29	CUSTODIAL AND MAINTENANCE PERSONNEL	50
ARTICLE	30	TRANSPORTATION PERSONNEL	54
ARTICLE	31	MECHANICS	58
ARTICLE	32	INSURANCE	61
ARTICLE	33	VOLUNTARY TRANSFERS	64
ARTICLE	34	SICK LEAVE	64
ARTICLE	35	LEAVES OF ABSENCE	66
ARTICLE	36	TRANSFERS BETWEEN POSITIONS	69

#### SECTION FOUR

	Forms And Salary Guides For All Unit Members	
SCHEDULE A	GRIEVANCE FORM	71
SCHEDULE B	REQUEST FOR PERSONAL/EMERGENCY DAY	72
SCHEDULE C	TEACHERS SALARY GUIDE 2002-2003	73
SCHEDULE C	TEACHERS SALARY GUIDE 2003-2004	74
SCHEDULE C	TEACHERS SALARY GUIDE 2004-2005	75
	HILLSBOROUGH TEACHER GUIDES Conversion/Placement Chart	76
SCHEDULE D	TEN AND TWELVE MONTH OFFICE PERSONNEL SALARY GUIDE 2002-2003	77
SCHEDULE D	TEN AND TWELVE MONTH OFFICE PERSONNEL SALARY GUIDE 2003-2004	78
SCHEDULE D	TEN AND TWELVE MONTH OFFICE PERSONNEL SALARY GUIDE 2004-2005	7.9
SCHEDULE E	LIBRARY ASSISTANTS SALARY GUIDE	80
SCHEDULE F	INSTRUCTIONAL ASSISTANTS SALARY GUIDE	81
SCHEDULE G	CLERICAL ASSISTANTS SALARY GUIDE	82
SCHEDULE H	SALARY GUIDES FOR CUSTODIAL AND MAINTENANCE PERSONNEL 2002-2003	83
SCHEDULE H	SALARY GUIDES FOR CUSTODIAL AND MAINTENANCE PERSONNEL 2003-2004	84

SIGNATURES ..... 94

ADDITIONAL ITEMS .....

SALARY GUIDES FOR CUSTODIAL AND MAINTENANCE

PERSONNEL 2004-2005.....

TRANSPORTATION DRIVERS SALARY GUIDE.....

SALARY GUIDE FOR ATELETIC COACHES.....

CO-CURRICULAR ACTIVITIES STIPENDS.....

PERMANENT SCHOOL AIDES SALARY GUIDE.....

85

őé

92

SCHEDULE H

SCHEDULE I

SCHEDULE J

SCHEDULE K

SCHEDULE L

### SECTION ONE

General ·

Applies to All Recognized Employees

# ARTICLE 1 RECOGNITION

- 1.1 Pursuant to Chapter 303, Laws of 1968, State of New Act, the Employer-Employee Relations Jersey Hillsborough Board of Education recognizes Hillsborough Education Association as the exclusive purpose of for collective representative the negotiations concerning the terms and conditions of employment for all personnel whether under contract or on leave employed by the Board as included herein:
  - a. Classroom Teachers
  - b. Nurses
  - c. Librarians
  - d. Social Workers
  - e. School Psychologists employed after June 30, 1991
  - f. Supplemental Teachers
  - g. Reading Teachers
  - h. Home Instruction Teachers
  - i. Learning Disability Specialists
  - j. Occupational Therapists
  - k. Physical Therapists
  - 1. Special Education Teachers
  - m. Ten and Twelve Month Office Personnel
  - n. Library Assistants
  - o. Instructional Assistants
  - p. Coaches
  - q. Accounting Clerks
  - r. Custodians
  - s. Maintenance Personnel
  - t. Pupil Transportation Drivers
  - u. Mechanics
  - v. Guidance Counselors
  - w. Student Assistance Counselors
  - x. Payroll Bookkeeper
  - y. Data Entry Operator
  - z. Head Bookkeeper
  - aa. Clerical Assistants
  - bb. Permanent School Aides

#### but excluding

- a. Superintendent
- b. Board Secretary-Business Administrator
- c. Assistant Superintendent
- d. Principals
- e. Vice-Principals
- f. Directors
- g. School Psychologists employed on or before June 30, 1991
- h. Board Office Supervisory Personnel
- i. Secretaries to Superintendent
- j. Secretary to Board Secretary-Business

#### Administrator

- k. Supervisors
- 1. Coordinators
- m. Secretary to Assistant Superintendent
- n. Personnel Assistant
- o. Clerk/Secretary to Personnel Assistant
- p. All other positions not listed as included
- Unless otherwise indicated, reference to employees shall be deemed to include both male and female except where a context clearly limits the intent to one sex, and the words used in the singular shall include words in the plural as the text so requires. (Example: the provision for leaves of absence on account of pregnancy).
- Definition of Full-Time Personnel (Custodial, Maintenance, and Transportation)
- 1.3.1 Unless otherwise indicated, the term "full-time personnel", who are represented by the Association in the negotiating unit as defined above, when used in this Agreement, shall refer to such persons steadily employed by the Board and who work not less than 40 hours per calendar week in the case of custodial and maintenance personnel, and in the case of pupil transportation drivers, those steadily employed on regularly scheduled routes, who work not less than 40 hours per calendar week.
- 1.4 Limited Benefits to Part-Time Transportation Personnel
- Pupil transportation drivers, steadily employed by the Board on regular routes, who work less than 40 hours per calendar week shall be included in the negotiating unit for all purposes and shall receive prorated leaves of absence benefits and sick leave benefits (based on 40-hour calendar week, under Articles 35 and 36 and insurance benefits subject to the conditions of Article 33).

# ARTICLE 2 AGENCY FEE

- 2.1 Upon receipt of written authorization from the Association, the Board shall deduct a representation fee from the wages of each employee who is not a member of the Association and shall remit the moneys collected to the Association once each month, not later than the 15th of the month.
- 2.2 The Association shall indemnify and hold the Board harmless against any and all claims, demands, suits, and other forms of liability, including liability for reasonable counsel fees and other legal costs and expenses, that may arise out of, or by reason of any action taken or not taken by the Board in conformance with this provision.
- 2.3 Effective July 1, 1984, any employee in the bargaining unit on the effective date of this Agreement who does not join the Association within 30 days thereafter, any new employee who does not join within 30 days of initial employment within the unit and any employee previously employed within the unit who does not join within 10 days of reentry into employment within the unit shall as a condition of employment pay a representation fee to the Association by automatic payroll deduction.
- The representation fee shall be in the amount permitted by law as certified to the Board by the Association. The Association will certify to the Board prior to the start of each membership year that the amount of the representation fee to be assessed does not exceed 85% of dues, fees and assessments and does not include any amount of dues, fees and assessments that are expended (1) for partisan, political or ideological activities or causes that are only incidentally related to terms and conditions of employment or (2) applied toward the cost of benefits available only to members of the Association.

The Association may revise its certification of the amount of the representation fee prior to the start of each membership year to reflect changes in the Association membership dues, fees and assessments.

- 2.5 For the purposes of this provision, employees who are reappointed from year to year shall be considered to be in continuous employment.
- The Association shall establish and maintain at all times a demand and return system as provided by N.J.S.A. 34:15A-5.4(2)(c) and (3) (L1979,c.477), and membership in the Association shall be available to all employees in the unit on an equal basis at all times. In the event the Association fails to maintain such a system or if membership is not so available, the Board shall immediately cease making said deductions. The Association shall provide evidence of the existence of this system to the Board and to all non-Association members before any deductions are made.
- 2.7 On or about the last day of each month, beginning with the month this Agreement becomes effective, the Board will submit to the Association a list of all employees who began their employment in a bargaining unit position during the preceding thirty (30) day period. The list will include names, job titles and dates of employment for all such employees.
- 2.8 The Association agrees that any moneys collected under provisions for Agency Fee shall be held in a special account by the Board of Education until such time as legal questions currently under consideration are decided.

# ARTICLE 3 VANDALISM REIMBURSEMENT FUND

3.1 The Board shall establish each year a fund of five hundred dollars (\$500.00) to be used to reimburse employees as authorized by the Superintendent for damage caused by vandalism committed on their cars while in school district parking facilities. At the end of each year, unused moneys (if there are any) will be continued in the fund, but only until the fund reaches a maximum of one thousand dollars (\$1,000.00).

# ARTICLE 4 NEGOTIATION PROCEDURE

- The parties agree to enter into collective negotiations 4.1 over a successor Agreement in accordance with Chapter 303, Public Laws of 1968 in a good-faith effort to reach agreement on matters concerning the terms and conditions of teachers' employment. Such negotiations shall be scheduled in accordance with the timetable by the Public Employment Relations established Commission during the calendar year preceding calendar year in which this Agreement expires. Agreement so negotiated shall apply to all recognized personnel under Article 1, Paragraph 1 and shall be reduced to writing, approved and signed by the Board and the Association.
- During negotiations, the Board and the Association shall present relevant data, exchange points of view and make proposals and counterproposals. The Board shall make available to the Association for inspection all records, data and information of the Hillsborough Township School District that are in the public domain.
- Neither party in any negotiations shall have any 4.3 control over the selection of the negotiating representatives of the other party. The parties mutually pledge that their representatives shall be clothed with all necessary power and authority to make and make proposals, consider proposals, counterproposals in the course of negotiations. The full Board retains the right to ratify or reject any agreements reached during negotiations.
- 4.4 The Board agrees not to negotiate concerning said employees in the negotiating unit as defined as Article 1 of this Agreement, with any organization other than the Association for the duration of this Agreement.
- This Agreement shall not be modified in whole or in part unless both parties negotiate a mutual acceptable amendment to this Agreement. Said amend shall be reduced to writing, be approved and be signed by the Board and the Association.

### ARTICLE 5 MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

- Subject to the express provisions of the Agreement and in compliance with law, the Board, on its own behalf and on behalf of the electors of the District, hereby retains and reserves unto itself all powers, rights, authority, duties and responsibilities conferred upon and vested in it by the laws and the Constitution of the State of New Jersey and of the United States, including all decisional law and rules and regulations of the State Department of Education of the State of New Jersey, including, but not limited to, the following:
- 5.1.1 To the executive management and administrative control of the school system and its properties and facilities, and the activities of its employees in the performance of their employment;
- 5.1.2 To hire, direct, promote, transfer, assign, and retain employees in positions within the school district, and to determine their qualifications and the conditions for their dismissal or demotion, and to relieve employees from duties because of lack of work or for other legitimate reasons pursuant to rules and regulations of the Board;
- 5.1.3 To maintain the efficiency of the school district operations entrusted to the Board, and to determine the methods, means and personnel by which such operations are to be conducted;
- 5.1.4 To determine work schedules, the hours of work and the duties, responsibilities and assignments of employees with respect thereto;
- 5.1.5 To take what actions as may be necessary to carry out the functions of the school district in emergency situations.
- 5.2 The Association agrees that it will not engage in any job action including withholding labor and services during the duration of this contract.

### ARTICLE 6 MISCELLANEOUS

- This Agreement represents and incorporates the complete and final understanding and settlement by the parties of all issues which were or could have been the subject of negotiations. During the term of this Agreement, neither party will be required to negotiate with respect to any such matter, whether or not covered by the Agreement, and whether or not within the knowledge or contemplation of either or both of the parties at the time they negotiated or signed this Agreement, except that proposed new rules or modifications of existing rules governing working conditions shall be negotiated with the Association as may be required by N.J.S.A. 34:13A-5.3.
- The Association President shall be excused from one duty period per day at the middle and high school levels or from forty non-instructional/non-assigned consecutive minutes per day at the elementary school/support staff levels for purposes of conducting Association business.
- The Board and the Association agree that there shall be no discrimination and that all practices, procedures, and policies of the school system shall clearly exemplify that there is no discrimination in the hiring, training, assignment, promotion, transfer or discipline of employees or in the application or administration of this Agreement on the basis of race, creed, color, religion, national origin, gender, domicile, marital status, age, or sexual orientation.

#### SECTION TWO

Applies to Classroom Teachers, Nurses, Librarians, Social Workers, Supplemental Teachers, Reading Teachers, Home Instruction Teachers, Learning Disability Specialists, Special Education Teachers, School Psychologists employed after June 30, 1991, Occupational Therapists, Physical Therapists, Coaches, Ten and Twelve Month Office Personnel, Library Assistants, Permanent School Aides, Instructional Assistants, Accounting Clerks, Guidance Counselors, Student Assistance Counselors, Clerical Assistants, Data Entry Operator, Payroll Bookkeeper, and Head Bookkeeper.

# ARTICLE 7 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

#### 7.1 Definition:

- 7.1.1A "Grievance" shall mean a claim by an employee that there has been a misinterpretation, misapplication, or a violation of Board Policy, this Agreement, or an administrative decision adversely affecting his terms and conditions of employment. A grievance, to be considered under this procedure, must be initiated by the employee within twenty (20) calendar days of the time the employee knew or should reasonably have known of its occurrence.
- 7.2 General Conditions
- 7.2.1 It is agreed by both parties that these proceedings will be kept as informal and confidential as may be appropriate at any level of this procedure.
- 7.2.2 Failure at any step of this procedure to communicate the decision on a grievance within the specified time limits shall permit the aggrieved employee to proceed to the next step. Failure at any step of this procedure to appeal a grievance to the next step within the specified time limits shall be deemed to be acceptance by the grievant of the decision rendered at that step.
- 7.2.3 It is understood that employees shall, during and notwithstanding the pendency of any grievance, continue to observe all assignments and applicable rules and regulations of the Board until such grievance and any effect thereof shall have been fully determined.
- 7.2.4 Since it is important that grievances be processed as rapidly as possible, the number of days indicated at each level should be considered a maximum, and every effort should be made to expedite the process. The time limits specified may be extended by mutual agreement.
- 7.2.5 School days when used in this Article refer to days when school is in session, and during the summer, to days when the Central Office is open for the transaction of business, whether or not students or employees are in scheduled attendance.
- 7.3 Right of Employees to Representation

- 7.3.1 Any aggrieved person may be represented at all stages of the grievance procedure by himself, or at his option, by a representative selected or approved by the Association.
- 7.3.2 When an employee is not represented by the Association in the processing of a grievance, the Association shall at the time of submission of the grievance at Level Two be notified that the grievance is in process, have the right to be present and present its position in writing at all meetings with the employee held concerning the grievance, and shall receive a copy of all decisions rendered.

#### 7.4 Procedure

- 7.4.1 Level One Any employee who has a grievance shall discuss it first with his Principal, or immediate superior, in an attempt to resolve the matter informally at that level.
- 7.4.2 Level Two If, as a result of the discussion, the matter is not resolved to the satisfaction of the employee within five (5) school days, he may set forth his grievance in writing to his Principal on the grievance forms provided. The Principal shall communicate his decision to the employee in writing within five (5) school days of receipt of the written grievance.
- 7.4.3 Level Three - The employee, no later than five (5) school days after receipt of the Principal's decision, appeal the Principal's decision to Superintendent of Schools. The appeal the Superintendent must be made in writing, reciting the matter submitted to the Principal as specified above, and his dissatisfaction with decisions previously rendered. The Superintendent shall attempt to resolve the matter as quickly as possible, but within a period not to exceed ten (10) school days. The Superintendent shall communicate his decision in writing to the employee and the Principal.
- 7.4.4 Level Four If the grievance is not resolved to the employee's satisfaction, he, no later than ten (10) school days after receipt of the Superintendent's decision, may request a review by the Board of Education. The request shall be submitted in writing through the Superintendent of Schools who shall attach all related papers and forward the request within five (5) school days to the Board of Education. The Board

shall review the grievance and shall, at the option of the Board or upon request of the employee, hold a hearing with the employee and render a decision in writing within thirty-five (35) calendar days of receipt of the grievance by the Board or of the date of the hearing with the employee, whichever comes later.

7.4.5 Level Five - No claim by an employee shall constitute a grievance matter beyond Level Four or be processed beyond Level Four if it pertains to (a) any matter for which a detailed method of review is prescribed by law; or (b) any rule or regulation of the State Commissioner of Education; or (c) any existing by-laws of the Board of Education; or (d) any matter which according to law is beyond the scope of Board authority or limited to unilateral action of the Board alone; complaint of a non-tenure employee which arises by reason of his not being reemployed. However, a nontenure employee shall have the right to a hearing before the Board of Education, wherein a decision shall be rendered to the non-tenure employee forthwith (due process shall be adhered to by the parties); (f) or a complaint by any certified personnel occasioned by lack of appointment to or lack of retention in any position for which tenure is either not possible or not required. However, in all situations, due process shall be guaranteed.

> If the employee is dissatisfied with the decision of the Board of Education and only if the grievance pertains to an alleged violation of this Agreement between the Board and the Association, the employee may request the appointment of an arbitrator, such request to be made in writing to the Superintendent no later than two calendar weeks after receipt of the decision of the Board of Education. An employee, in order to process his grievance beyond Level Four, must have his request for such action accompanied by the written recommendation for such action by the Association. Such request can be honored only if the grievant or grievants and the Association representing them waive the right, if any, in writing of said grievant or grievants and the Association representing them to submit the underlying dispute to any administration or judicial tribunal, except for the purpose of enforcing the arbitrator's report.

- 7.5 Procedure for Securing the Services of an Arbitrator.
- 7.5.1 The following procedure will be used to secure the services of an arbitrator:

- 7.5.2 A request will be made to the Pubic Employment Relations Commission ("PERC") to submit a roster of persons qualified to function as an arbitrator in the dispute in question.
- 7.5.3 If the parties are unable to determine within ten (10) school days of the initial request for arbitration a mutually satisfactory arbitrator from the second submitted list, PERC may be requested by either party to designate an arbitrator.
- 7.5.4 The arbitrator shall limit himself to the issues submitted to him and shall consider nothing else. He can add nothing to, nor subtract anything from, the Agreement between the parties or any policy of the Board of Education. The findings of the arbitrator shall be binding to the parties. Only the Board and the aggrieved and his representatives shall be given copies of the arbitrator's report and recommendations. This shall be accomplished within thirty (30) calendar days of the completion of the arbitrator's hearings.

#### 7.6 Miscellaneous

- 7.6.1 Forms pertaining to the filing of grievances shall be prepared jointly by the Association and Superintendent, and shall require the employee to specify the exact of the alleged misinterpretation, misapplication, or violation of the Board policy, this Agreement, or administrative decision adversely affecting his terms and conditions of employment. Forms shall require the employee to identify the specific provisions of this Agreement or principal areas that allegedly were violated and how they were Further, the forms shall require the violated. employee to specify the exact remedy sought. See Schedule A.
- 7.7 Costs
- 7.7.1 Each party shall bear the total cost incurred by itself.
- 7.7.2 The fees and expenses of the arbitrator shall be paid by the losing party.
- 7.8 All documents, communications and records dealing with the processing of a grievance shall be filed in a separate grievance file and shall not be kept in the personnel file of any of the participants.

7.9 No employee shall be disciplined without just cause.

### ARTICLE 8 SCHOOL CALENDAR

### Parties agree to:

- Representatives of the Association are to meet with the Superintendent at a time prior to formal acceptance of the school calendar for the subsequent school years(s). At that time the Superintendent will consult with the representatives of the Association on the specifics of the school calendar.
- The teacher in school work year will be one hundred eighty-five (185) days long. New teachers will be required to attend additional orientation days as provided for by the Board, as existed in prior practice.
- 8.3 The Board reserves the right to make modifications in the school calendar, after consultation with the Association. The Board further reserves the right to terminate school in the event of an emergency without prior consultation with the Association.

# ARTICLE 9 TEACHING HOURS AND TEACHING LOAD

9.1 Teachers will be required to report to work five (5) minutes before the scheduled arrival of the first bus in the morning. The teacher working day will end five (5) minutes after the scheduled departure of the last bus in the afternoon. The teacher will continue to perform in a professional manner as currently practiced.

In case of an emergency delay or unusual circumstance in the arrival of one or more buses, the Principal may require the number of teachers he deems necessary to remain with the pupils to provide the necessary supervision until the buses arrive.

- 9.2 High school teachers will receive at least five conference/preparation periods per week except in cases of emergency.
- 9.3 Effective July 1, 1999, the daily work time for elementary teachers shall be increased by twenty (20) minutes of instructional time. Elementary teachers will receive approximately the same gross preparation time per week as afforded them in past practice.
- 9.4 Faculty meetings will be scheduled when determined to be necessary by the Principal.
- 9.4.1 The number of faculty/departmental meetings shall be limited to four (4) meetings per month and every effort shall be made to schedule faculty meetings on Mondays, with at least forty-eight (48) hours notice, unless there is an emergency. Attendance at committee meetings will be on a voluntary basis.
- 9.4.2 The Administration will make every effort to begin meetings no later than twenty (20) minutes after dismissal of the students, provided, however, that nothing contained herein shall prohibit the Administration from scheduling meetings before the day begins, consistent with past practice.
- 9.5 It is a professional responsibility of the professional staff to take part in all study groups as requested by the administration provided that assignments to such committee shall be on a fair and impartial basis.
- In the event of an emergency during the teaching day or at the close of the teaching day during which students are ordered out of the building (e.g. bomb threat, fire, fire drill), the teachers shall remain to assist in the control of the students as long as the students remain on the school premises.
- 9.7 Elementary teachers shall receive, on a daily basis, a duty-free lunch period of at least forty (40) minutes, unless the lunch period allotted to pupils is less than forty (40) minutes, due to such items as half-day session, delayed opening or early dismissal, in which case the teachers shall receive the same amount of time as the pupils.
- 9.8 Sixth Instructional Period
- 9.8.1 The Board may assign a sixth instructional period to

high school teachers who volunteer for a sixth period teaching assignment.

- 9.8.2 Compensation for the sixth instructional period shall be paid to the high school teachers on a per diem basis in the amount of one-fifth (1/5) of the teachers' respective daily base salaries for actual periods worked.
- 9.8.3 The parties understand and agree that any high school teacher who ceases to teach six periods per day as part of his or her regular teaching load in any year will cease to receive the benefits described herein and shall receive the compensation level that would apply if said teacher had not been carrying a six-period teaching load in that year.
- 9.8.4 The parties understand and agree that neither the receipt of the benefits described herein, nor the fact that a high school teacher is teaching or has taught a sixth period per day will have any effect on that teacher's step level assignment, entitlement to seniority, entitlement to tenure, or entitlement to assignment or any other right or benefit that may be available to employees of the Board.
- 9.9 Seventh Instructional Period
- 9.9.1 The Board may assign a seventh instructional period to middle school teachers who volunteer for a seventh period teaching assignment.
- 9.9.2 Compensation for the seventh instructional period shall be paid to the middle school teachers on a per diem basis in the amount of one sixth (1/6) of the teachers' respective daily base salaries for actual periods worked.
- 9.9.3 The parties understand and agree that any middle school teacher who ceases to teach seven periods per day as part of his or her regular teaching load in any year will cease to receive the benefits described herein and shall receive the compensation level that would apply if said teacher had not been carrying a seven-period teaching load in that year.
- 9.9.4 The parties understand and agree that neither the receipt of the compensation described herein, nor the fact that a middle school teacher is teaching or has taught a seventh period per day will have any effect on that teacher's step level assignment, entitlement to

seniority, entitlement to tenure, or entitlement to assignment or any other right or benefit that may be available to employees of the Board.

### ARTICLE 10 TEACHER ASSIGNMENT

- All teachers shall be given a tentative, written notice of their salary schedules, K-12 subject and building assignment and K-6 assignments for the forthcoming year by June 15, but in no case later than two days prior to the close of school.
- The Superintendent shall notify all newly appointed personnel of their specific positions within that subject area and/or grade level for which the Board has appointed the teacher. The Superintendent shall give notice of assignments to new teachers as soon as practicable, and except in cases of emergency not later than June 30. This does not apply to teachers who are unassigned.
- In the event that changes in such schedules, subject assignments, and/or building assignments are proposed after the deadline date as specified in paragraphs 10.1 and 10.2 above, any teacher affected shall be notified in writing and upon request of the teacher the changes shall be reviewed between the Superintendent or his designee and the teacher affected.
- Teachers who may be required to use their own automobiles in the performance of their duties and teachers who are assigned to more than one (1) school per day shall be reimbursed for all such travel in accordance with the provisions of Article 20, Section 8.

# ARTICLE 11 TRANSFERS AND REASSIGNMENTS

- 11.1 Voluntary Transfers and Reassignments
- 11.1.1 Teachers who desire a change in grade and/or subject assignment, or who desire to transfer to another building, may file a written statement of such desire with the Superintendent not later than February 1. Such statements shall include the grade and/or subject to which the teacher desires to be assigned and the school or schools to which he desires to be transferred, in order of preference if there is a vacancy foreseen as of that date.

- 11.2 Involuntary Transfers and Reassignments
- 11.2.1 Notice of an involuntary transfer or reassignment shall be given to teachers as soon as practicable, and except in cases of emergency not later than May 20.

# ARTICLE 12 PROMOTIONS

- Notice of all open positions (except those of classroom teachers) in the Hillsborough Schools shall be posted in all schools and sent to the Hillsborough Education Association President. The posting notice shall set forth qualifications for the position and the minimum salary the Board expects to pay. Individuals interested in applying for the position shall do so in the matter prescribed in the notice within fifteen (15) calendar days after the date of the notice. No permanent appointment to the position posted shall be made until twenty (20) calendar days after the posting notice has been issued.
- Employees who desire to apply for a promotional position which may be filled during the summer months, when school is not in session, shall submit their names to the Superintendent, together with the positions for which they wish to apply, and an address where they can be reached during the summer. The Superintendent shall notify such employees of any vacancy in a position for which they wish to apply. Employees interested in applying for the positions shall do so within fifteen (15) calendar days of the date of such notification. No appointment shall be made until twenty (20) calendar days after the date of such notification.

# ARTICLE 13 TEACHER EVALUATION

A non-tenured teacher shall be given a copy of any class observation report or annual evaluation report prepared by his evaluators in accordance with the applicable provisions of Title 6. No written notice shall be submitted to the Central Office, placed in the teacher's file or otherwise acted upon without an opportunity for prior conference being afforded to the teacher. After this conference, the teacher shall be permitted five (5) school days in which to make written comments on the observation report or evaluation report before signing the form. No teacher shall be required to sign a blank or incomplete evaluation form. If the

teacher refuses to sign material to be filed, the teacher shall notify the Association President of such action, and said material shall be filed, signature notwithstanding.

- A teacher shall have the right, upon request, to review the contents of his personnel file, with the exception of references and recommendations that were made by previous employers. A teacher shall be entitled to have one of his colleagues accompany him during such review.
- No material derogatory to a teacher's conduct, service, 13.3 character or personality shall be placed in his file unless the teacher has had personnel The teacher shall opportunity to review the material. acknowledge that he has had the opportunity to review such material by affixing his signature to the copy to be filed with the express understanding that such signature in no way indicates agreement with the The teacher shall also have the contents thereof. right to submit a written answer to such material within thirty (30) calendar days and his answer shall be received by the Superintendent or his designee and attached to the file.
- Any complaints regarding a teacher made to any member of the administration by any parent, student, or other person which are used in any manner in evaluating a teacher shall be related to the teacher and he shall be given an opportunity to respond to and/or rebut such a complaint.
- 13.5 Supervisory reports on teacher performance shall include, but not be limited to:
- 13.5.1 Strengths of the teacher as evidenced during the time observed.
- 13.5.2 Improvements noticed since the previous report.
- 13.5.3 Weaknesses of the teacher or of the procedures used during the time observed.
- 13.5.4 Specific suggestions as to measures which the teacher might take to improve his performance in each of the areas wherein weaknesses have been indicated.
- 13.6 Such supervisory reports should be provided for non-tenured teachers at least four (4) times a year; the first no later than December 15, and the last not later than April 1.

### ARTICLE 14 SICK LEAVE

- All ten-month employees shall be entitled to twelve (12) sick leave days each school year as of the first official day of said school year. Twelve-month employees shall be entitled to fourteen (14) sick leave days. Unused sick days shall be accumulated from year to year with no maximum limit.
- Employees who begin employment after September 1, will have their sick leave prorated.
- 14.3 Arrangements of additional sick leave in cases of emergency may be made at the discretion of the Board.
- 14.4 Sick Leave Bank
- 14.4.1 The Sick Leave Bank will be operated by Trustees made up of officers of the Association.
- Any Association member may voluntarily join the Bank who is willing to contribute two (2) of his/her personal sick days to the Bank during the enrollment period to be determined by the Trustees from time to time when the Trustees determine the Bank so requires. Said enrollment period shall be from September 1 to September 30 of any school year. New Association members must apply within thirty (30) days of initial employment. The value of each day contributed by a member shall be \$134 and shall be deducted from the maximum amount an employee is entitled to be paid under Article 21.1.2.
- 14.4.3 Participation withdrawar from the because in time after donation. Said individual may not withdraw his/her donated sick days. Withdrawal must be done in writing.
- 14.4.4 Individuals may withdraw Bank days from the Bank only after all personal sick days have been used and withdrawal is authorized by the Trustees of the Association and approved by the Board.
- 14.4.5 Application for Bank days may be made only when an individual is affected by a catastrophic illness or accident determined by medical certification. Application will be made to the Trustees.

- 14.4.6 Beginning each school year, an individual unable to return to active duty who is entitled to annual sick leave must draw from his/her annual sick leave accumulation before reapplying to the Bank.
- 14.4.7 At the end of the school year, any unused sick days remaining in the Bank will be carried over to the next year.
- 14.4.8 If, in the judgment of the Trustees, the employee qualifies, the Trustees shall submit the request to the Board of Education. If the Board agrees with the Trustees, the Board will arrange payment to the employee. If the Board rejects the request, the Board will notify the Trustees of the Bank.
- 14.4.9 A contributor will be entitled to withdraw up to ninety (90) Bank days in a school year at which time an individual may reapply. N.J.S.A. 18:30-6 will apply when Sick Leave Bank days have been exhausted.
- 14.4.10 Should the Bank be dissolved, each contributing member will receive an equal amount, or fraction thereof, of the remaining Sick Leave Bank days not to exceed the original amount each individual contributed.
- 14.4.11 The parties acknowledge that the decision of the Board shall be final and binding and shall not be reviewable by a court or agency of competent jurisdiction or subject to the grievance procedure of the Agreement.
- 14.4.12 The cost of the substitute or the estimated cost of the substitute shall be deducted from each additional sick day granted. A day's salary is defined as 1/200<sup>th</sup> of the annual salary.
- 14.4.13 The Board and the Association shall maintain a current accounting of the Bank, to include members who have joined, sick leave days utilized and sick leave days on deposit in the Bank. A joint accounting will take place in June of each year.

### ARTICLE 15 LEAVES OF ABSENCE

- 15.1 Extended Leaves of Absence Without Pay
- 15.1.1 A leave of absence without pay of up to two (2) years shall be granted to any tenure teacher who joins the Peace Corps, VISTA, National Teachers Corps, or serves as an exchange teacher or overseas teacher, and is a full-time participant in any such programs, or accepts a Fulbright Scholarship. Note: This must be a bona fide teaching assignment and will be granted at the discretion of the Superintendent.
- 15.1.2 A teacher on tenure shall be granted a leave of absence without pay for up to one (1) year to teach in an accredited college or university. Such leave is subject to the approval of the Superintendent, and may be renewed.
- 15.1.3 Military leave up to three (3) years without pay shall be granted to any teacher who is inducted or enlists in any branch of the armed forces of the United States for the period of such induction or initial enlistment.
- 15.1.4.1 Any tenured teacher or any teacher who has been or would have been recommended for tenure, may request a child care leave by applying to the Board of Education for said leave ninety (90) calendar days before the day on which said leave is to commence. Said teacher must supply the Board with the date on which said leave is to commence and the date on which he/she expects to If an employee begins a child care return to work. leave prior to January 1, the leave may extend only to the remainder of the school year in which it was If the child care leave commences after granted. January 1, the leave must terminate no later than June 30 of the following school year. Said dates may be further extended or reduced for medical reasons upon application by the teacher to the Board together with a certificate from her physician in support thereof. Said child care leave is to be without pay. The Board may change the requested dates upon finding that the grant of a leave for those days would substantially interfere with the administration of the school, provided that such date changes by the Board if any, are not medically contraindicated.

- 15.1.4.2 A pregnant employee may work until any time before the expected birth, provided that her ability to work effectively is not impaired due to her pregnancy, and, at the discretion of the Superintendent, the employee's requested date of leave commencement does not interfere with the continuity of her duties. Sick leave pay may be applied to that period during the leave of absence which qualifies as medical disability due to pregnancy or childbirth. The Board may require certificates from the employee's physician and the Board's physician as to her physical ability to continue working during the period of pregnancy. In the event that the employee's physician and the Board's physician disagree as to her physical ability to fulfill her duties, the Board may request expert consultations, in which case, the Somerset County Medical Society shall appoint an impartial third physician whose medical opinion shall be conclusive and binding. Such examinations shall be conducted expediently and without undue delay. expense of such third examination shall be shared equally by the employee and the Board.
- 15.1.4.3 Any tenured teacher or any teacher who has been or would have been recommended for tenure adopting an infant child may receive leave similar to a natural parent which shall commence upon receiving de facto custody of said infant or earlier if necessary to fulfill the requirements for the adoption.
- 15.1.4.4 Any employee on child care leave shall have the opportunity to substitute, if qualified.
- 15.1.4.5 The Board will comply with the provisions of the New Jersey Family Leave Act (FLA) and the Federal Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA).

Upon written request at least thirty (30) days in advance, whenever possible, the Board will grant leave pursuant to FLA or FMLA to eligible employees. (Eligibility criteria will be centrally posted in each work location.)

15.1.5 A leave of absence without pay of up to one (1) year may be granted to an employee for the purpose of caring for a sick member of the immediate family at the discretion of the Board, upon recommendation of the Superintendent. Additional leave may be granted at the discretion of the Board, upon recommendation of the Superintendent. The employee shall apply for readmission by February 1, prior to the school year in

question.

- 15.1.6 Other leaves of absence without pay may be granted by the Board for good reason.
- Upon return from leave granted pursuant to Paragraph 15-1.7 15.1.1, 15.1.2, and 15.1.3, an employee shall be considered as if he were actively employed by the Board during leave and shall be placed on the salary schedule at the level he would have achieved if he had not been absent, provided, however, that time spent on said leaves shall not count toward the fulfillment of the time requirements for acquiring tenure. An employee does not receive increment credit for time spent on a leave granted pursuant to Paragraph 15.1.4, 15.1.5, and such time count toward the 15.1.6, nor shall fulfillment of the time requirements for acquiring To be eligible for increment credit, the employee must have worked at least one half of the preceding contractual year.
- 15.1.8 All benefits to which an employee was entitled at the time the leave of absence commenced, including unused accumulated sick leave and credits toward sabbatical eligibility, shall be restored upon the employee's return to work.
- 15-1.9 All extensions or renewals of leaves shall be applied for in writing by February 1 and shall be answered within one (1) month or sooner if possible.
- 15.2 Temporary Leaves of Absence With Full Pay
- 15.2.1 Employees shall be entitled to the following non-accumulative leaves of absence with full pay each school year.
- Two (2) days personal leave without reason shall be 15.2.2 granted, as authorized by the Superintendent, for matters which require absence from work. Application to the Superintendent for personal leave shall be made at least five (5) work days before such leave is to be taken. One (1) of the two (2) personal days, however, may be used for a personal emergency without the five work days notice with the approval of Superintendent. If the anticipated absentee rate on any given day may exceed five percent (5%) of the entire staff, then requests for personal days shall be granted on a first-come first-serve basis, up to the maximum five percent (5%). If not taken, personal leave shall be added to the sick leave bank for

retirement, provided that the number of days does not exceed the fifteen (15) day statutory maximum.

A check sheet prepared by the Superintendent will be made available for taking personal/emergency days. Employees will complete the check sheet and forward it, through the Principal, to the Superintendent for approval according to the terms of this Agreement.

- 15.2.2.1 Personal leave on days immediately preceding or following scheduled school holidays may be granted only for extenuating circumstances at the discretion of the Superintendent.
- 15.2.3 Provision may be made for excused absences for the purpose of visiting other schools or attending meetings or conferences of an educational nature by applying to the Superintendent. This leave may be granted at the discretion of the Superintendent.
- Time necessary for appearances in any legal proceeding connected with the employee's employment or with the school system or in any other legal proceeding for which the employee has been subpoenaed to attend will be granted upon request by the employee who will give reasonable notice.

#### 15.2.5 Emergency Days:

In the case of emergency, notification shall be given orally to the Superintendent/principal/tape with written request to be submitted through the principal upon the employee's return to work.

Up to a maximum of five (5) days during one school year in the event of the death of an employee's spouse, brother, sister, child, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, parent, father-in-law, mother-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, grandparent, grandchild, step-parent, step-sibling, and any other member of the immediate household. Of these five (5) days no more than three (3) days may be used for the above named persons in the event of a serious injury or illness.

Additional leave may be applied for in accordance with 15.2.5. Employees may be granted, at the discretion of the Superintendent, up to two (2) days during one school year in the event of the death of a friend or relative outside the employee's immediate family as defined above. In the event of the death of an employee in the Hillsborough School District, the

Superintendent, may, at his discretion, grant to an appropriate number of employees sufficient time off to attend the funeral.

- 15,2.6 Other leaves of absence with pay may be granted by the Board for good and sufficient reason.
- 15.3 Temporary Military Leaves of Absence
- 15.3.1 A temporary leave of absence shall be granted to persons called into active duty for two weeks or less during any one calendar year in any unit of the U.S. Reserves, or the State National Guard, provided such obligations cannot be fulfilled on days when school is not in session.
- Any employee who is a member of the organized reserve of the Army of the United States, United States Naval Reserve, United States Air Force Reserve, or United States Marine Corps Reserve, or other organization affiliated therewith, shall be entitled to leave of absence from his respective duty without loss of pay or time on all days on which he shall be engaged in field training.

### ARTICLE 16 SABBATICAL LEAVES

- A sabbatical leave shall be granted to a teacher by the Board for graduate study and/or reasons of value to the school system as determined by the Board. Study shall be on a full time basis through an accredited college or university, as considered to be on a full time basis by that college or university. Sabbatical leaves shall be subject to the following conditions.
- 16.1.1 The teacher has completed at least seven (7) full school years of service in the Hillsborough School District.
- 16.1.1.1 A teacher may not be granted a sabbatical leave some often than once every seven (7) years.
- 16.1.1.2 A sabbatical leave may be granted for travel contingent on educational value as determined by the Superintendent.
- 16.1.2 The Board will assume fifty percent (50%) of the teacher's salary on the level he would be on.
- 16.1.2.1 Salary payments will be made on the same basis as

regular staff payroll, unless a request is made for payment at less frequent intervals. In no event, shall such payment be advanced. Payments may be made monthly, quarterly, semi-annually, or annually without interest.

- 16.1.3 Ιf there are sufficient qualified applicants, sabbatical leaves may be granted, upon recommendations of the Superintendent, to three (3) teachers, but not more than one (1)teacher grade/subject/department in each school. In the event that more than three (3) qualified teachers in the District or more than one (1) qualified teacher in a grade/subject/department in each school apply for sabbatical leave, it shall be at the sole discretion of the Superintendent to determine which applications shall be recommended to the Board.
- Requests for sabbatical leave must be received by the Superintendent in writing in such form as may be mutually agreed upon by the Association and the Board no later than February 1, and action must be taken on all such requests no later than April 1 of the school year preceding the school year for which the sabbatical leave is requested.
- The Board shall continue pension payment based upon the salary received by the teacher under the terms of this Article and shall continue all existing medical insurance coverage provided, however, that the Board shall not be obligated to pay more for the benefits described herein than would have been required if the teacher had not been on sabbatical leave.
- 16.1.6 Upon return from sabbatical leave, a teacher shall be placed on the salary schedule at the level which he would have achieved had he remained actively employed in the system during the period of his absence.
- The teacher, upon completion of such leave, shall remain as an employee with the Hillsborough School District for a period of no less than two (2) years. In default thereof, the teacher shall reimburse the District those moneys received in payment under the terms of this Article in proportion to that amount of the required two (2) year period not spent within the Hillsborough School District. A written agreement to this effect shall be entered into by both parties.

### ARTICLE 17 SUBSTITUTES

The Board will endeavor to provide to the best of its ability, qualified substitutes for special teachers. If this cannot be done, the individual K-5 teacher will be required to assume the responsibility of the class or, in the case of the high school and middle school, a teacher will be required to take over that particular area of responsibility.

# ARTICLE 18 PROFESSIONAL IMPROVEMENT

- Upon successful completion of courses for which 18.1 graduate or in-service credits have been granted, authorized in advance, whenever possible, by the Superintendent, and granted at an institution of higher learning recognized by the State of New Jersey, the Board will reimburse tuition costs up to fifteen (15) credits per year per teacher, or up to thirty (30) credits per year per teacher involved in full-time study during approved sabbatical leave. Reimbursement per graduate course will not exceed tuition costs of the New Jersey State Colleges or State University. The teacher must possess a New Jersey Standard or Permanent Teaching Certificate in the area of his current teaching assignment to be eligible.
- 18.2 Compensation shall be available for expenses incurred in attendance at workshops, seminars, conferences, authorized in advance by the Superintendent, and pursuant to 15.2.3 under Temporary Leaves of Absence for:
- 18.2.1 Registration Fee;
- 18.2.2 Mileage in accordance with the provision of Article 20, paragraph 20.8.
- 18.2.3 Meals;
- 18.2.4 Lodging, if necessary
- 18.2.5 Receipts for all authorized expenses must be submitted to the Superintendent in order to be reimbursed for those expenses.
- The Board shall work cooperatively with the local Professional Development Committee so that one of the District's professional development days may be

- eligible for credit to the teachers' state mandated continuing education requirement.
- Noncertificated employees may attend continuing education programs sponsored by the Board at no cost to the employee provided there is space available in said program.
- 18.5 Mentor Teachers
- 18.5.1 The Board will accept applications throughout the year from all teachers interested in mentoring.
- 18.5.2 All vacancies for mentoring positions shall be posted as early as the District is aware of its needs. The posting shall include the qualifications for the position.
- 18.5.3 The eligibility of teachers applying to serve as mentor teachers shall be based upon the criteria set forth in N.J.A.C. 6:11-14.5(a)(1).
- 18.5.4 Mentor teachers shall receive appropriate training prior to beginning mentoring assignments.
- 18.5.5 Mentor teachers shall be selected from qualified volunteers whenever possible.
- 18.5.6 Mentor teachers shall not be responsible for any of the following duties:
- 18.5.6.1 Direct or indirect evaluations of the provisional/ alternate route teacher:
- 18.5.6.2 Completing notes regarding the provisional/alternate route teacher, except as required by law.
- 18.5.7 Mentor teachers shall maintain a confidential relationship with the provisional/alternate route teacher. Mentor teachers shall not share any notes taken regarding the provisional/alternate route teacher with a third party unless permission is directly granted by the provisional/alternate route teacher.
- The parties agree that any teacher who mentors a first year teacher who is required to be mentored by the State shall be compensated by the Board at the annual prorated amount of Five Hundred Fifty Dollars (\$550).
- 18.5.9 No teacher shall involuntarily serve as a mentor unless tenured by the Board of Education.

18.5.10 Such training may be scheduled during the regular work day.

### ARTICLE 19 SUBCONTRACTING

19.1 The Board will notify the Association in advance of its intention to subcontract any of the jobs currently held by the Association members and agrees to meet with the Association to discuss its consideration of subcontracting and to allow the Association to express its position and to offer alternatives.

### SALARIES AND INSURANCE

- 20.1 The salaries of all teachers covered by this Agreement are set forth in Schedule C for the years of 2002-2203, 2003-2004 and 2004-2005, which is attached hereto and made a part hereof. Any teacher's position on said guides may be adjusted laterally twice per year, on September 1 and February 1. A teacher shall be eligible for such lateral movement upon presenting evidence to the Superintendent before September 1 or February 1, if possible, that the number of graduate course credits as specified in the appropriate salary quide has been earned. In addition to the amounts reflected on the salary guides, longevity in the amounts of \$3,000.00 shall be added to all teachers' pensionable salaries who have twenty (20) years experience, ten (10) of which are in the District. Similarly, longevity increments in the amounts of \$3,000.00 shall be added to all teachers' pensionable salaries at each additional five (5) year level reflecting twenty-five (25), thirty (30) and thirtyfive (35) years of experience with fifteen (15), twenty (20) and twenty-five (25) years respectively in the District.
- 20.1.1 For example, teachers with twenty (20) years of experience, ten (10) of which are in the District, shall receive a salary of Step 19 at his/her level of education plus \$3,000.00. Teachers with twenty-five (25) years of experience, fifteen (15) of which are in the District, shall receive a salary of Step 19 at his/her level of education plus \$6,000.00. Teachers with thirty (30) years of experience, twenty (20) of which are in the District, shall receive a salary of Step 19 of his/her level of education plus \$9,000.00. Teachers with thirty-five (35) years of experience,

twenty-five (25) of which are in the District, shall receive a salary of Step 19 of his/her level of education plus \$12,000.00.

- 20.2 Employees employed on a ten (10) month basis shall be paid in twenty (20) semi-monthly installments.
- month basis 20.3 Employees employed on a ten individually elect to have ten (10) percent of their monthly salary deducted from their pay. These funds shall be paid to the employee on the final payday of the work year, providing the employee submits written notice on or before May 1; otherwise, he will be paid on the first pay day in July and August. Interest on shall be paid to the Ralph Juppe these funds Scholarship Fund.
- 20.3.1 Employees may individually elect to have deducted from their monthly salary specified amounts to be contributed to (invested in) the Teachers' Credit Union.
- 20.4 When a payday falls on or during a school holiday, vacation or weekend, employees shall receive their paychecks on the last previous working day.
- 20.5 Ten-month employees shall receive their final checks and the pay schedule for the following year by the last working day.
- 20.6 The Board shall provide the health-care insurance protection designated hereinafter.
- Of the cost of coverage for hospital room and board and 20.6.1 miscellaneous costs, maternity costs and surgical costs, the Board shall pay one hundred (100%) percent of the premium for recognized persons hired before July 1, 1996 and any dependents of said recognized persons. Employees hired for July 1, 1996 or thereafter will receive Board paid health insurance at the Point of Service ("POS") rate for the first three (3) years of employment. During the employee's first three years of employment, said employee may elect coverages under the indemnity plan with the employee paying the difference between the POS rate and the indemnity plan rate. After the first three years of employment, an employee may elect any of the coverages offered by the Board with no premium cost to the employee. Employees hired for July 1, 2003 or thereafter will receive Board paid health insurance in the POS plan only and they shall not have the option to "buy-up" or elect any of the other coverages offered by the Board.

- Of the cost of coverage for out-patient laboratory fee, 20.6.2 technician's expenses, therapy treatment and major medical, the Board shall pay one hundred (100%) percent of the premium for recognized persons hired before July 1, 1996 and any dependents of said recognized persons. Employees hired for July 1, 1996 or thereafter will receive Board paid health insurance at the POS rate for the first three (3) years of employment. During the employee's first three years of employment, said employee may elect coverages under the indemnity plan with the employee paying the difference between the POS After the first rate and the indemnity plan rate. three years of employment, an employee may elect any of the coverages offered by the Board with no premium cost to the employee. Employees hired for July 1, 2003 or thereafter will receive Board paid health insurance in the POS plan only and they shall not have the option to "buy-up" or elect any of the other coverages offered by the Board.
- Of the costs of coverage for dental treatment, the Board shall pay one hundred (100%) percent of the premium. Effective July 1, 1998, the deductible under the dental benefits is Fifty (\$50.00) Dollars per calendar year, individual and family. Said coverage shall basically provide for the following, although more particularly set forth in the appropriate policy:

One Thousand Five Hundred (\$1,500.00) Dollar maximum coverage per year; eighty (80%) percent payment for inlays, gold fillings, crowns and precision attachments for dentures; one hundred (100%) percent payment for all other necessary and reasonable dental expenses: One Thousand Two Hundred (\$1,200.00) Dollars litetime orthodontic benefit with 50% coinsurance.

- The deductible under the major medical benefits is One Hundred (\$100.00) Dollars individual, Two Hundred (\$200.00) Dollars family. The lifetime maximum under the major medical portion of the group insurance policy shall be One Million (\$1,000,000.00) Dollars.
- 20.7 Selection of Carrier/Change in Coverage.
- 20.7.1 The Board shall have the right to select the insurance carrier but shall at all times maintain insurance coverage substantially equal to the coverages presently in existence.

- 20.7.2 Prior to making any change in carrier or coverage, the Board shall review the said change with the Association.
- Recognized persons shall be compensated at the Internal Revenue Service allowance for any school related travel in the employee's vehicle which the Superintendent or his/her designee requires.
- Teachers shall receive compensation at the rate of \$39.26 for any home instruction and for curriculum development authorized by the Board through the Superintendent during the term of this Agreement.
- 20.9.1 A teacher who attends a scheduled home instruction session shall receive no less than one hour's payment even if the student fails to attend such session.
- 20.10 Effective July 1, 2003, the Board will provide Section 125 plans for the Association membership.
- 20.10.1 A premium conversion plan will be made available through payroll deduction for all employees for the amount of their contribution toward medical program premiums. All contributions made through this program are done on a pre-tax basis for federal purposes in accordance with Section 125 laws.
- 20.10.2 A flexible spending account plan will be made available through payroll deduction for any annually contracted employee who wishes to direct an annual amount not to exceed One Thousand Five Hundred Dollars (\$1,500) paid over a monthly basis toward uninsured medical/dental expenses and/or an amount not to exceed that permitted by Section 125 laws for elder/dependent care expenses. The Board will develop a form for an annual selection for any interested employee. The annual selection made by the employee can not be modified during the year. The employee will be responsible for filing for reimbursement for eligible expenses through a third party administrator up to the annual amount specified by the employee. Any funds left over at the end of the each year (June 30) will be returned to the Board. Board will be responsible for the cost of the third party administrator. The Board shall have the right to select the third party administrator. All contributions made through this program are done on a pre-tax basis for federal purposes in accordance with Section 125 laws.

20.10.3 A benefits waiver plan will be made available to any employee who desires to waive their medical and/or dental benefits on an annual basis in exchange for an annual cash incentive. Any employee who opts to waive their medical benefits must provide proof of coverage in order to be eliqible for the cash incentive. Board will develop a form for all eligible employees to complete on an annual basis to select their insurance coverage or to waive their right to coverage. The cash incentive to be provided to any employee waiving their insurance is Two Thousand Five Hundred Dollars (\$2,500) for medical benefits and Three Hundred Dollars (\$300) for dental benefits, which shall be prorated for any employee who is employed for less than a full work year. The annual cash incentive will be paid in two (2) installments in December and June. The annual cash incentive is fully taxable and subject to all required withholding taxes. An employee will be permitted to re-enroll in the respective group insurance plans every July 1 or immediately if the employee provides proof of a life status change. If an employee re-enrolls during the year because of a life status change, the cash incentive will be prorated.

# ARTICLE 21 TEACHER RETIREMENT PLAN

- Any teacher who retires from the School District with twenty (20) or more years of service in this District shall be eligible for terminal leave pay to be computed using the ratio of one (1) day's pay for every five (5) days of accumulated sick leave subject to the following procedures.
- 21.1.1 Notice of intention to retire shall be submitted to the Superintendent of Schools at least two (2) months before the final budget involving the year of retirement; and
- 21.1.2 Accumulated sick leave under the Agreement formula shall be capped at the maximum amount a teacher is entitled to on June 30, 1999 or \$13,500.00, whichever is greater.

### ARTICLE 22 OFFICE PERSONNEL

- 22.1 Classification
- 22.1.1 Ten (10) month office personnel to include:

- 22.1.1.1 Secretary to Building Principals and Vice Principals'
- 22.1.1.2 Secretary to Child Study Team
- 22.1.1.3 Guidance Secretary
- 22.1.1.4 Secretary to Curriculum Department
- 22.2 Twelve (12) month Office Personnel to include:
- 22.2.1 Secretary to Buildings and Grounds Department
- 22.2.2 Secretary to Transportation Department
- 22.2.3 Secretary to High School Administrators
- 22.2.4 Secretary to Purchasing Department
- 22.3 Central Office Personnel
- 22.3.1 Head Bookkeeper
- 22.3.2 Payroll/Bookkeeper
- 22.3.3 Accounting Clerk
- 22.3.4 Data Entry Operator
- 22.4 Contracts
- Ten (10) month office personnel will report to work five (5) working days prior to the new teachers orientation and shall be paid for these days, pro rata, based on annual salary.
- 22.5 Work Schedule
- 22.5.1 Ten (10) month office personnel shall have a similar work schedule as teachers during actual school operation, except as modified in this Agreement.
- 22.6 Work Week
- 22.6.1 A work week shall consist of thirty-five (35) hours per week with straight time up to forty (40) hours.
- 22.6.2 The duration of the lunch period will be at the discretion of the Building Principal or of the immediate supervisor, with the approval of the Superintendent. But in no case will the lunch period exceed one (1) hour in duration.

- 22.7 Overtime Schedule
- 22.7.1 Time and a half (1 1/2) shall be paid for work in excess of forty (40) hours.
- Double time (2x) shall be paid for work on Sundays or on holidays specified in the school calendar.
- 22.8 Other Benefits
- 22.8.1 No office personnel who are included in the negotiations unit shall be required to report to work and/or are excused from reporting to work when school is closed because of inclement weather.
- All office personnel shall on days of emergency closing be allowed to leave their posts five (5) minutes after the last bus leaves their individual school building. Central office personnel follow the same schedule as the middle school.
- Any office personnel, bookkeeper, data entry operator, or accounting clerk who retires from the School District with fifteen (15) or more years of service in this District shall be eligible for terminal leave pay to be computed using the ratio of one (1) day's pay for every five (5) days of accumulated unused sick leave subject to the procedures of Article 21, paragraphs 21.1.1.
- Accumulated sick leave under the Agreement formula shall be capped for all support staff at the maximum amount the employee is entitled to on June 30, 1999 or \$10,000.00, whichever is greater.
- 22.8.5 Ten month secretaries shall receive advance notice of summer work and, if hired, shall be paid at their annual salary on a pro-rata basis.

- 22.9 Salary Guide (See Schedule "D" for years 2002-2003, 2003-2004, 2004-2005)
- 22.10 Vacations for twelve-month office personnel
- 22.10.1 All vacations shall be determined from the anniversary date of employment. Vacations shall be taken during July and August; however, all vacations shall be at the discretion of the Superintendent and shall be determined as follows:
- 22.10.2 First year: One (1) day for each month of service up to a maximum of ten (10) days.
- 22.10.3 One (1) year of service, ten (10) working days.
- 22.10.4 After five (5) years of service, fifteen (15) working days shall be granted.
- 22.10.5 After fifteen (15) years of service, one (1) additional day of vacation shall be added to the fifteen (15) working days for each year up to seventeen (17) years of service.
- 22.10.6 At seventeen (17) years of service, twenty (20) working days of vacation shall be granted.
- 22.10.7 At seventeen (17) years of service, one (1) additional day of vacation shall be added to the twenty (20) working days for each year up to twenty-two (22) years of service.
- 22.10.8 At twenty-two (22) years of service, twenty-five (25) working days of vacation shall be granted.
- 22.10.9 Any person employed between July 1 and December 1, shall, upon the anniversary of the fifth year of employment, be granted a third week of vacation to be taken during the summer vacation period during that year in which the fifth anniversary is observed.
- 22.10.10 Any person employed from January 1 to June 30 shall receive the third week of vacation during the summer vacation period of that year in which the anniversary of the fifth year is observed.

Example: Employee hired November, 1993, shall be eligible for third week of vacation during July and August of 1998. Employee hired March, 1994, shall be

eligible for third week during the months of July and August of 1999.

- 22.11 Holidays for twelve-month office personnel
- 22.11.1 Sixteen (16) holidays shall be granted during the school year in accordance with the schedule designated for Central Office personnel.
- Only the following Articles of this Agreement shall apply to office personnel:

Article 1

Article 2

Article 3

Article 4

Article 5

Article 6

Article 7

Article 12

Article 14

Article 15 (Except 15-1.1, 15-1.2)

Article 18

Article 19

Article 20 (Except 20-1, 20-9, and 20-9.1)

### ARTICLE 23 LIBRARY ASSISTANTS

- The contract for Library Assistants shall be a ten (10) month contract from September 1 to June 30.
- The work year of the Library Assistants shall be the same work schedule as teachers during the actual operation of school.
- 23.2.1 The Library Assistants shall report five (5) days before new teachers and shall be paid for these days according to the terms of this Article.
- 23.2.2 The Library Assistants shall work to the full term of their contract, June 30, at the discretion of the Building Principal.
- 23.3 Library Assistants shall work thirty-five (35) hour per week with a one-half (1/2) hour lunch period per day.
- 23.4 Salaries for Library Assistants shall be listed in Schedule E of this agreement.
- 23.5 Any Library Assistant who retires from the School

District with fifteen (15) or more years of service in this District shall be eligible for terminal leave pay to be computed using the ratio of one (1) day's pay for every five (5) days of accumulated unused sick leave subject to the procedures of Article XXI, paragraph 21.1.1.

- 23.5.1 Accumulated sick leave under the Agreement formula shall be capped for all support staff at the maximum amount the employee is entitled to on June 30, 1999 or \$10,000.00, whichever is greater.
- Only the following Articles of this Agreement shall apply to Library Assistants:

Article 1 Article 2 Article 3

Article 4

Article 5 Article 6

Article 7

Article 12 Article 14

Article 15 (except 15-1.1, 15-1.2)

Article 18

Article 19

Article 20 (except 20-1, 20-9, and 20-9.1)

Article 23

# ARTICLE 24 INSTRUCTIONAL ASSISTANTS

- 24.1 The contract for Instructional Assistants shall be a ten (10) month contract from September 1 to June 30.
- Instructional Assistants shall work the same length day as the teacher(s) to whom they are assigned.
- 24.3 The Instructional Assistants work year will be regulated by the language of their personal contract.
- 24.4 Salaries for Instructional Assistants shall be listed in Schedule F of this Agreement.
- 24.5 Instructional Assistants are eligible for reimbursement of tuition costs up to three (3) credits per year at a college or university recognized by the State of New Jersey. Reimbursement shall not exceed tuition costs of the New Jersey State Colleges or State University rate. Instructional Assistants must be enrolled in a Teacher Certification Program approved by the State of

New Jersey. For every year of tuition reimbursement the Instructional Assistant, if offered reemployment, must accept employment for the following year or repay the tuition cost for the previous year within thirty (30) days. If the Board must pursue collection, the Instructional Assistant will indemnify the Board, including, but not limited to, attorneys' fees, unless the reason the employee does not return is for the reasons which would otherwise excuse an employee's repayment of health premiums under Section 825.213(a)(1) and (2) of the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993.

Only the following articles of this agreement shall apply to Instructional Assistants:

Article 1 Article 2 Article 3 Article 4 Article 5 Article 6

Article 7 Article 12 Article 14

Article 15 (Except 15-1.1 and 15-1.2)

Article 19

Article 20 (Except 20-1, 20-9, and 20-9.1)

.

Article 24

### ARTICLE 25 CLERICAL ASSISTANTS

- The contract for Clerical Assistants shall be a ten (10) month contract from September 1 to June 30.
- 25.2 Clerical Assistants will report to work five (5) working days prior to new teachers orientation and shall be paid for these days, pro rata, based on annual salary.
- 25.3 Clerical Assistants work year and darry building the regulated by the language of their personal contract.
- All Clerical Assistants who are assigned a full day of work may leave their post on days of emergency closing when office personnel is dismissed. They will also not be required to report to work when school is closed due to inclement weather.
- 25.5 The duration of the lunch period will be at the

discretion of the Building Principal or of the immediate supervisor, with the approval of the Superintendent. But in no case will the lunch period exceed one (1) hour in duration.

- Salaries for Clerical Assistants shall be listed in 25.6 Schedule G of this agreement.
- Only the following articles of this Agreement shall 25.7 apply to Clerical Assistants:

Article 1

Article 2

Article 3

Article 4

Article 5

Article 6

Article 7

Article 12

Article 14

Article 15 (except 15-1.1 and 15-1.2)

Article 19

Article 20 (except 20-1, 20-9, and 20-9.1)

Article 25

# ARTICLE 26 PERMANENT SCHOOL AIDES

- Permanent School Aides are employed on days that 26.1 students are in session.
- The length of the work day is based on the school need 26.2 as determined by the Building Principal.
- 26.3 Salary Guide (See Schedule "L" for years 2002-2003, 2003-2004, 2004-2005)
- Time sheets are completed and submitted through the 26.4 Building Principal's office. Permanent School Aides are paid twice per month.

```
Only the following articles of this Agreement shall
26.5
         apply to Permanent School Aides:
              Article 1
              Article 2
              Article 3
              Article 4
              Article 5
              Article 6
              Article 7
              Article 12
              Article 14
              Article 15 (except 15-1.1 and 15-1.2)
              Article 19
              Article 20 (except 20-1, 20-9, and 20-9.1)
              Article 26
```

# SECTION THREE

Applies to Custodians, Maintenance Personnel, Pupil Transportation Drivers, and Mechanics

# ARTICLE 27 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

- 27.1 Definition
- A "grievance" is a claim by an employee or the Association that there has been a misinterpretation, misapplication, or violation of policies, agreements, or administrative decisions, resulting in personal loss, injury, or otherwise adversely affecting such employee or group of employees.
- 27.1.2 An "aggrieved person" is the person or persons making the claim.

### 27.2 Purpose

The purpose of this procedure is to secure, at the lowest possible level, starting informally with the immediate supervisor of the employee, equitable solutions to problems which may, from time to time, arise adversely affecting employees. The parties hereto agree that these proceedings should be kept as informal and confidential as may be appropriate at every level of this procedure.

- 27.3 Conditions and Time Limits
- A grievance to be considered under this procedure must be initiated by the aggrieved within twenty (20) calendar days from the date he knew or should reasonably have been expected to know of its occurrence.
- 27.3.2 The number of days indicated at each level shall be considered as a maximum and every effort should be made to expedite the process. The time limits specified may, however, be extended by mutual agreement of the parties hereto in writing.
- 27.3.3 Failure to process a grievance to the next step of the procedure within the specified time limit shall be deemed to be acceptable of the decision rendered at that step.
- 27.3.4 Failure to communicate the decision in writing on a grievance within the specified time limit shall permit the aggrieved to proceed to the next step.

- 27.3.5 It is understood that employees, shall, during and notwithstanding the pendency of any grievance, continue to observe all assignments and applicable rules and regulations of the Board until such grievance and any effect thereof shall have been fully determined.
- 27.3.6 In the event a grievance is filed at such time that it cannot be processed through all the steps in this grievance procedure by the end of the school year, the time limits set forth herein shall be reduced so that the grievance procedure may be exhausted prior to the end of the school year or as soon thereafter as is practicable.
- 27.4 Formal Procedure
- 27.4.1 Level One Business Administrator
- 27.4.1.1 An employee with a grievance, who after first discussing same with his immediate supervisor, and is dissatisfied with the informal disposition of same shall either directly or through the Association's designated representative submit same in writing on the appropriate form, to the Business Administrator. The Business Administrator shall render a written decision within fifteen (15) calendar days after the grievance is presented.
- 27.4.2 Level Two Superintendent of Schools
- 27.4.2.1 If the aggrieved person is not satisfied with the disposition of his grievance at Level One or if no decision has been rendered within fifteen (15) calendar days after submission at Level One, he may present it in writing on the appropriate form to the Superintendent of Schools within ten (10) calendar days thereafter.
- 27.4.3 Level Three Board of Education
- 27.4.3.1 If the aggrieved person is not satisfied with the disposition of his grievance at Level Two, or if no decision has been rendered within fifteen (15) calendar days after the grievance was delivered to the Superintendent of Schools, he may, within ten (10) calendar days thereafter, request in writing that the Association submit the grievance to the Board of Education within five (5) calendar days thereafter, no further action on such grievance shall be taken.

No claim by a grievant shall go beyond Level Three if it pertains to (a) any matter for which a detailed method of review is prescribed by law; or (b) any rule or regulation of the State or Commissioner of Education or State Board of Education; or (c) any existing Bylaws is beyond the scope of Board authority or limited to unilateral action of the Board.

- 27.4.4 Level Four Advisory Arbitration Request
- 27.4.4.1 If the aggrieved person is not satisfied with the disposition of his grievance at Level Three, or if no decision has been rendered within thirty (30) calendar days after the grievance was delivered to the Board of Education, he may request in writing within ten (10) days, advisory arbitration.
- 27.4.5 Advisory Arbitration
- 27.4.5.1 The following procedure will be used to secure the services of an arbitrator:
- 27.4.5.1.1 A request will be made to PERC to submit a roster of persons qualified to function as an arbitrator in the dispute in question.
- 27.4.5.1.2 If the parties are unable to determine a mutually satisfactory arbitrator from the submitted list, they will request PERC to submit a second roster of names.
- 27.4.5.1.3 If the parties are unable to determine within ten (10) calendar days of the initial request for an arbitrator from the second submitted list, PERC may be requested by either party to designate an arbitrator.
- 27.4.5.2 The arbitrator shall be limited to the issues as submitted and shall consider nothing else. The arbitrator can add nothing to, nor subtract anything from the Agreement between the parties or any poster of the Board of Education. The recommendations of the arbitrator shall be advisory. Only the Board and the aggrieved and his/her representatives shall be given copies of the arbitrator's report findings, reasons, and recommendations. This shall be accomplished within thirty (30) calendar days of the completion of the arbitrator's hearings.
- 27.4.5.3 The Board shall render its final decision within thirty (30) calendar days after receipt of the arbitrator's recommendation. Copies of said decision shall be forwarded to the aggrieved, his/her representatives,

and the Association.

- 27.4.5.4 The fees and expenses of the arbitrator shall be paid by the losing party.
- 27.5 Rights of Employee to Representation
- 27.5.1 Employee and Association
- 27.5.1.1 Any aggrieved person may be represented at all stages of the grievance procedure by himself, or, at his option, by a representative selected or approved by the Association. When an employee is not represented by the Association, the Association shall have the right to be present and to state its views at all stages of the grievance procedure.
- 27.5.2 Reprisals
- 27.5.2.1 No reprisals of any kind shall be taken by the Board or by any member of the administration against any party in interest, any representative, any member of the Association, or any other participant in the grievance procedure by reason of such participation.
- 27.6 Miscellaneous
- 27.6.1 Group Grievance
- 27.6.1.1 If in the judgment of the Association, a grievance affects a group or class of employees, the Association may submit such grievance in writing to the Superintendent directly and the processing of such grievance shall be commenced at Level Two. The Association may process such a grievance through all levels of the grievance procedure even though the aggrieved person does not wish to do so.
- 27.6.2 Written Decisions
- 27.6.2.1 Decisions rendered at Level One which are unsatisfactory to the aggrieved person and all decisions rendered at Level Two and Three of the grievance procedure shall be in writing setting forth the decision and the reasons therefore and shall be transmitted promptly to all parties in interest and to the Association.
- 27.6.3 Separate Grievance File
- 27.6.3.1 All documents, communications and records dealing with

the processing of a grievance shall be filed in a separate grievance file and shall not be kept in the personnel file of any of the participants.

- 27.6.4 Forms
- 27.6.4.1 Forms for filing grievances, serving notices, taking appeals, making reports and recommendations, and other necessary documents shall be prepared jointly by the Superintendent and the Association and given appropriate distribution so as to facilitate operation of the grievance procedure.
- 27.6.5 Meetings and Hearings
- 27.6.5.1 All meetings and hearings under this procedure shall not be conducted in public and shall include only such parties in interest and their designated or selected representatives, hereto referred to in this Article.

# ARTICLE 28 RIGHTS AND PRIVILEGES OF THE PARTIES

- 28.1 Employees' Rights to Organize
- 28.1.1 The Board agrees that its employees shall have the right to freely organize, join, and support the Association and its affiliates and that it shall not discriminate against any employee on the basis of his involvement with the Association and its affiliates.
- 28.2 Association Business and Meetings
- 28.2.1 The Association President shall be excused from one duty period per day at the middle and high school levels or from forty non-instructional/non-assigned consecutive minutes per day at the elementary school/support staff levels for purposes of conducting Association business.
- Representatives of the Association, the New Jersey Education Association and the National Education Association shall be permitted to transact official Association business on school property at all reasonable times provided that this shall not interfere with or disrupt normal school operations or interfere with the assigned duties of school personnel. The Association and its representatives shall have the privilege to use school buildings for meetings upon prior notice and approval consistent with the present Board policies as to the use of the schools. The

Association shall have the right to use the interschool mail facilities and school mail boxes in accord with reasonable regulations to be adopted by the Superintendent of Schools.

- 28.3 Discipline, Reduction in Job Classification or Involuntary Transfer of Employee
- No employee shall be disciplined, reduced in job 28.3.1 classification or involuntarily transferred without just cause and any such action taken shall be subject to due process of law, as provided for in the grievance Any employee covered hereunder who is procedure. required to appear before the Superintendent of Schools, which could adversely affect the continuation of that employee in his position or employment or compensation pertaining thereto, shall be given prior written notice of reasons for such meeting and shall be entitled, at his option, to have a representative of This provision shall in no way his own choosing. restrict or limit the Superintendent of Schools, Board or Supervisors from holding meetings or discussions with employees.
- 28.4 Managerial Prerogatives of Board
- The Board, on its own behalf and on behalf of the electors of the District, hereby retains and reserves unto itself all powers, rights, authority, duties and responsibilities conferred upon and vested in it by laws and the Constitution of the State of New Jersey and of the United States, including all decisional law and rules and regulations of the State Department of Education and Commissioner of the State of New Jersey, including, but without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the following rights, subject, however, to the provisions of this Agreement and policies as formally established and promulgated by the Board, including, but not limited to, the following:
- 28.4.1.1 To the executive management and administrative control of the school system and its properties and facilities, and the activities of its employees in the performance of their employment.

- 28.4.1.2 To hire, direct, promote, transfer, assign, and retain employees in positions within the School District, and to determine their qualifications and the conditions for their continued employment or their dismissal or demotion, and to relieve employees from duties because of lack of work or for other legitimate reasons pursuant to rules and regulations of the Board.
- 28.4.1.3 To maintain the efficiency of the School District operations entrusted to the Board, and to determine the methods, means and personnel by which such operations are to be conducted.
- 28.4.1.4 To decide upon the means and methods of cleaning and maintaining the buildings, the selection of supplies and other materials and conduct of the transportation system and routes relating thereto;
- 28.4.1.5 To determine work schedules, the hours of work and the duties, responsibilities and assignments of employees with respect thereto;
- 28.4.1.6 To take what actions as may be necessary to carry out the functions of the School District in emergency situations.
- 28.5 Association Pledge

The Association agrees that it will not engage in any slow down, job action or other retaliatory practice including withholding of labor and/or services during the term of this Agreement.

# ARTICLE 29 CUSTODIAL AND MAINTENANCE PERSONNEL

- 29.1 Work Year
- 29.1.1 All custodial, maintenance personnel shall be employed on a forty (40) hour week, 12 months school shall be employed.
- 29.2 Holidays

29.2.1 All custodial and maintenance personnel shall be granted the following fifteen (15) holidays with pay:

July 4th
Labor Day
Thanksgiving
Day after Thanksgiving
Day before Christmas
Christmas Day
Day after Christmas

Day before New Year's New Year's Day Lincoln's Birthday Washington's Birthday Good Friday Easter Monday Memorial Day

One (1) additional day scheduled at the discretion of the administration.

- 29.2.2 In the event a holiday shall occur on a weekend, the holiday authorized in this Agreement shall be taken on the day that school is officially closed for that holiday.
- 29.2.3 In the event a holiday is authorized by this Agreement and school is not closed in observance of that holiday, the authorized holiday shall be taken on the next non-pupil day.
- 29.3 Weekend Inspection
- 29.3.1 The building custodian or a designee appointed by the Superintendent of Schools shall make an inspection each weekend for which he will be paid the sum of \$37.14 per inspection during the term of this Agreement.
- 29.3.2 Any employee called in because of an emergency shall be guaranteed at least two (2) hours time when he responds.
- 29.4 Overtime
- 29.4.1 Custodial, or maintenance personnel shall be paid for overtime (beyond 40 hours per week or beyond 8 hours per day) at the rate of time and one half. No overtime whether in an emergency or otherwise shall be paid unless prior approval is given by the Superintendent of Schools.
- 2).4.2 All overtime hours which are worked or which an employee is given an opportunity to work shall be equalized insofar as practicable. In the event that special skills are required for a specific project requiring overtime work, the Superintendent or School Business Administrator shall have the authority to

assign said work to the employee he deems most qualified.

- 29.4.3 All overtime worked by each employee shall be posted in a conspicuous place.
- 29.4.4 There will be no change in the present practice regarding payment of overtime.
- 29.5 Custodial and Maintenance Workers' Vacations
- 29.5.1 All vacations shall be determined from the anniversary date of employment. Custodial vacations shall be taken during July and August; however, all vacations shall be at the discretion of the Superintendent, and shall be determined as follows:
- 29.5.1.1 First year: One (1) day for each month of service up to a maximum of ten (10) days.
- 29.5.1.2 One (1) year of service, ten (10) working days.
- 29.5.1.3 After five (5) years of service, fifteen (15) working days of vacation shall be granted.
- 29.5.1.4 After fifteen (15) years of service, one (1) additional day of vacation shall be added to the fifteen (15) working days for each year up to seventeen (17) years of service.
- 29.5.1.5 At seventeen (17) years of service, twenty (20) working days of vacation shall be granted.
- 29.5.1.6 At seventeen (17) years of service, one (1) additional day of vacation shall be added to the twenty (20) working days for each year up to twenty-two years (22) of service.
- 29.5.1.7 At twenty-two (22) years of service, twenty-five (25) working days of vacation shall be granted.
- 29.5.1.8 Any person employed between July 1 and December 31 shall, upon the anniversary of the fifth year of employment, be granted five (5) additional vacation days to be taken during the summer vacation period during that year in which the fifth anniversary is observed.

29.5.1.9 Any person employed from January 1 to June 30 shall receive five (5) additional vacation days during the summer vacation period of that year in which the anniversary of the fifth year is observed.

Example: Employee hired November, 1991, shall be eligible for these additional vacation days during July and August of 1996. Employee hired March, 1992, shall be eligible for these additional vacation days during the months of July and August of 1997.

- 29.6 Equipment
- 29.6.1 The Board shall provide:
- 29.6.1.1 Five (5) uniforms, one (1) pair of coveralls, one (1) jacket, one (1) set of foul weather over-garments and one (1) set of insulated garments per year at no cost to maintenance personnel;
- 29.6.1.2 Five (5) uniforms per year at no cost to custodial personnel;
- 29.6.1.3 One (1) set of foul weather over-garments for each elementary school, two (2) for the middle school, and three (3) for the high school for use by the building custodial personnel;
- 29.6.1.4 Two (2) pairs of safety goggles in each school;
- 29.6.1.5 One (1) set of insulated garments in each school;
- 29.6.1.6 Two (2) pairs of safety shoes per year or an allowance of sixty-five (\$65.00) dollars per pair to be applied to the purchase of safety shoes for each full-time maintenance and custodial worker;
- One (1) set of basic tools sufficient to complete 29.6.2 assigned tasks in a competent and professional manner subject to yearly inspection for each maintenance Replacement of worker and building (Head) custodian. missing tools shall be the responsibility of the maintenance worker and building custodian; however, replacement of worn tools shall be at the expense of the Board. The Board shall be responsible to provide and supply any specialized tools as approved by the Business Administrator and Director Environmental Services needed for the performance of assigned tasks.

- 29.6.3 All items in 29-6 remain the property of the Board of Education with the exception of the jacker, shoes, uniforms and coveralls.
- 29.7 Course Reimbursement
- The Board of Education will reimburse custodial and maintenance employees for the costs of all courses successfully completed and licenses or certificates obtained which the Board requests or requires them to complete or obtain.
- 29.8 Salary Guide
- 29.8.1 Schedule H attached hereto shall constitute the salary guide for the term of this Agreement and shall be incorporated as an integral part of this Agreement.
- 29.8.2 In addition to his regular salary, the night foreman shall receive \$61.87 per month in the middle school and \$92.79 per month in the high school during the term of this Agreement.
- Any custodial or maintenance worker who leaves the School District after fifteen (15) or more years of service in the District shall be eligible for terminal leave pay to be computed using the ratio of one (1) day's pay for every five (5) days of accumulated unused sick leave subject to the procedures of 21.1.1.
- 29.9.1 Accumulated sick leave under the Agreement formula shall be capped for all support staff at the maximum amount the employee is entitled to on June 30, 1999 or \$10,000.00, whichever is greater.
- The Board agrees to reimburse maintenance and custodial employees at the Internal Revenue Service allowance for any school related travel in the employee's vehicle which the Superintendent or his/her designee requires.

# ARTICLE 30 TRANSPORTATION PERSONNEL

- 30.1 Work Year
- 30.1.1 All pupil transportation drivers shall be employed on a ten (10) month school year basis at an hourly rate based on routes as determined by the Board of Education.
- 30.2 Salaries

- 30.2.1 Salaries shall be paid on the following basis: in twenty (20) equal installments at regular intervals.
- 30.2.2 Overtime shall be paid at one and one half times the regular hourly pay for each hour over forty (40) hours per week. Contracted time lost because of school closings in any week during the school year (except during scheduled Christmas and Easter vacations) shall be counted toward the forty (40) hours required to achieve the overtime rate, but transportation personnel shall not be paid for this loss of time.
- 30.2.3 Individual contracts shall be reviewed in January, and adjustments, if required, made effective February 1st.
- 30.3 Non-Regular Routes
- 30.3.1 Assignment to non-regular routes shall be made in a fair manner on the basis of seniority.
- 30.3.2 "Class A" routes shall be interpreted as a regular school run (except kindergarten) operated on a continuous daily basis by which pupils are taken to and from school. Class A routes shall be assigned to drivers at the beginning of each school year, and shall be assigned to drivers on the basis of previous operation of the routes by the driver. If a vacancy exists, drivers will have the choice of filling new runs or vacant runs on the basis of seniority. New drivers will fill any vacancies left.

"Class B" routes shall be interpreted as adjunct routes (examples: ESL, kindergarten, late bus routes). These routes are to be granted on the basis of seniority. Any Class B route arising during the school year shall be posted a minimum of five (5) working days in advance.

Extra runs (field trips, etc.) shall be posted within 48 hours in advance when possible. Extra runs will be given on a rotating seniority basis. If a driver will not operate the extra run, he or she will be charged with a turn.

#### Weekdays:

The Supervisor-dispatcher will ask each driver on the seniority list, beginning with their appropriate place on the list, to work extra runs beginning with Monday's extra runs. The driver will be asked to work the next day's extra runs once the preceding day's runs are

assigned. If more than one extra run is available on a weekday, the first driver to be asked to work will have her/his choice of that day's extra run. If unanticipated weekday runs occur, the driver at the appropriate place on the seniority list will be asked to work.

#### Weekends:

The Supervisor-dispatcher will ask each driver on the seniority list weekend schedule, beginning with the appropriate place on the list, to work extra runs, beginning with Saturday runs. The driver will be asked to work Sunday's extra runs once Saturday's runs are assigned. If more than one extra run is available on a weekend day, the first driver to be asked to work will have his/her choice of that day's extra run. If unanticipated weekend day runs occur, the driver at the appropriate place on the seniority list will be asked to work.

### Daytime:

Field trips that occur during the hours school is in session will be assigned to drivers who are available (not during regularly scheduled school routes) based on seniority.

### Discontinued Routes:

When a run is discontinued, the driver of the discontinued run will have the option of assuming the route of the lowest seniority driver, if he or she is qualified and able to perform the duties the routes will require.

### Cancellations:

When an extra run is canceled, the canceled driver will be the first to be asked for the next available extra run. All extra runs worked shall be posted in a conspicuous place, showing name of employee who works that run.

# Termination of Employment:

In the event that a driver leaves the Board's employ, his or her entire assignment shall be made available to all remaining drivers interested and shall be filled on the basis of seniority.

30.3.3 When required to attend meetings, transportation personnel shall be compensated at their normal hourly rate.

# 30.4 Resignation

30.4.1 Any pupil transportation driver, who wishes to resign his employment, shall furnish the Board of Education with a two week advance notice of intention to resign, which notice shall be in writing, dated and signed by the employee in question and delivered personally to the Superintendent of Schools or School Business Administrator or mailed certified mail, return receipt requested. Such notice shall become effective upon receipt by the Board of Education or Superintendent of Schools or School Business Administrator. of employment initiated by the Board of Education shall include a two-week advance notice to the employee being terminated.

# 30.5 Salary Guide

- 30.5.1 Schedule I attached hereto shall constitute the salary guide for the term of this Agreement and shall be incorporated as an integral part of this Agreement.
- Transportation personnel shall be compensated at their normal hourly rate of pay for all meetings except for those meetings relative to disciplinary actions at which their attendance is required by the administration.
- Any transportation employee called from home to return to work outside of his/her regular schedule shall be paid a minimum equivalent to one (1) hour at the normal pay rate.
- All pupil transportation drivers shall receive payment of one (1) hour per month at their regular rate for drivers route report paper work time. To be eligible the driver must work the entire school year.

- Any transportation worker who leaves the School District after fifteen (15) or more years of service in the District shall be eligible for terminal leave pay to be computed using the ratio of one (1) day's pay for every five (5) days of accumulated unused sick leave subject to the procedures of 21.1.1.
- 30.9.1 Accumulated sick leave under the Agreement formula shall be capped for all support staff at the maximum amount the employee is entitled to on June 30, 1999 or \$10,000.00, whichever is greater.
- 30.10 Physical Exams for Pupil Transportation Drivers
- The Board, at its sole cost and expense, shall provide for physical examination for pupil transportation drivers employed by the Board. Such examination shall be given each driver once every two (2) years and shall be done by a physician chosen by the Board. Said examinations shall be limited strictly to those matters required to operate a school bus or van in a public school system in the State of New Jersey.
- 30.10.2 Drivers electing to have physical examination by a physician other than the one chosen by the Board will be reimbursed in an amount not to exceed the fee currently charged by the Board physician.

# ARTICLE 31 MECHANICS

- 31.1 Work Year
- Mechanics shall be employed on a forty (40) hour week, 12-month school year basis.
- 31.2 Overtime
- Mechanics shall be paid for overtime (beyond 40 hours per week) at the rate of time and one half. No overtime whether in an emergency or otherwise shall be paid unless prior approval is given by the Superintendent of Schools or School Business Administrator.
- 31.2.2 All overtime hours which are worked or which an employee is given an opportunity to work shall be equalized insofar as practicable. In the event that special skills are required for a specific project requiring overtime work, the Superintendent or School

Business Administrator shall have the authority to assign said work to the employee he deems most qualified.

- 31.2.3 All overtime worked by each employee shall be posted in a conspicuous place.
- 31.2.4 There will be no change in the present practice regarding payment of overtime.
- 31.3 Holidays
- Mechanics shall be granted fifteen (15) holidays with pay during the school year in accordance with the schedule designated for central office personnel.
- 31.4 Mechanics' Vacations
- 31.4.1 All vacations shall be determined from the anniversary date of employment. Mechanics' vacations shall be taken during July and August; however, all vacations shall be at the discretion of the School Business Administrator, and shall be determined as follows:
  - 31.4.1.1 First year: One (1) day for each month of service up to a maximum of ten (10) days.
- 31.4.1.2 One (1) year of service, ten (10) working days.
- 31.4.1.3 After five (5) years of service, fifteen (15) working days of vacation shall be granted.
- 31.4.1.4 After fifteen (15) years of service, one (1) additional day of vacation shall be added to the fifteen (15) working days for each year up to seventeen (17) years of service.
- 31.4.1.5 At seventeen (17) years of service, twenty (20) working days of vacation shall be granted.
- 31.4.1.6 At seventeen (17) years of service, one (1) additional day of vacation shall be added to the twenty (20) working days for each year up to twenty-two (22) years of service.
- 31.4.1.7 At twenty-two (22) years of service, twenty-five (25) working days of vacation shall be granted.

- 31.4.1.8 Any person employed between July 1 and December 31 shall, upon the anniversary of the fifth year of employment, be granted five (5) additional vacation days to be taken during the summer vacation period during that year in which the fifth anniversary is observed.
- 31.4.1.9 Any person employed from January 1 to June 30 shall receive five (5) additional vacation days during the summer vacation period of that year in which the anniversary of the fifth year is observed.

Example: Employee hired November, 1991, shall be eligible for these additional vacation days during July and August of 1996. Employee hired March, 1992, shall be eligible for these additional vacation days during the months of July and August of 1997.

- 31.5 Equipment
- 31.5.1 The Board shall provide:
- 31.5.1.1 Five (5) uniforms, one (1) pair of coveralls, one (1) jacket, one (1) set of foul weather over-garments and one (1) set of insulated garments per year at no cost to mechanics.
- 31.5.1.2 Two (2) pairs of safety shoes per year or an allowance of sixty-five (\$65.00) dollars per pair to be applied to the purchase of safety shoes for each full-time mechanic:
- 31.5.1.3 One (1) set of foul weather over-garments for each mechanic;
- 31.5.1.4 Items 31.5.1.3 are the property of the Board of Education.
- 31.6 Course Reimbursement
- 31.6.1 The Board of Education will reimburse mechanics for the costs of all courses successfully completed and licenses or certificates obtained which the Board requests or requires them to complete or obtain.
- 31.7 Salary

- 31.7.1 Schedule H attached hereto shall constitute the salary guide for the term of this Agreement and shall be incorporated as an integral part of this Agreement.
- Any mechanic who retires from the School District after fifteen (15) or more years of service in the District shall be eligible for terminal leave pay to be computed using the ratio of one (1) day's pay for every five (5) days of accumulated unused sick leave subject to the procedures of 21.1.1.
- 31.8.1 Accumulated sick leave under the Agreement formula shall be capped for all support staff at the maximum amount the employee is entitled to on June 30, 1999 or \$10,000.00, whichever is greater.

# ARTICLE 32 INSURANCE

- 32.1 The Board shall provide health-care insurance protection to qualified employees, as follows:
- Of the cost of coverage for hospital room and board and 32.1.1 miscellaneous costs, maternity costs and surgical costs, the Board shall pay one hundred (100%) percent of the premium for recognized persons hired before July 1, 1996 and any dependents of said recognized persons. Employees hired for July 1, 1996 or thereafter will receive Board paid health insurance at the Point of Service ("POS") rate for the first three (3) years of employment. During the employee's first three years of employment, said employee may elect coverages under the indemnity plan with the employee paying the difference between the POS rate and the indemnity plan rate. After the first three years of employment, an employee may elect any of the coverages offered by the Board with no premium cost to the employee. Employees hired for July 1, 2003 or thereafter will receive Board paid health insurance in the POS plan only and they shall not have the option to "buy-up" or elect any of the other coverages offered by the Board.
- 32.1.2 Of the cost of coverage for out-patient laboratory fee, technician's expenses, therapy treatment and major medical, the Board shall pay one hundred (100%) percent of the premium for recognized persons hired before July 1, 1996 and any dependents of said recognized persons. Employees hired for July 1, 1996 or thereafter will receive Board paid health insurance at the POS rate for the first three (3) years of employment. During the

employee's first three years of employment, said employee may elect coverages under the indemnity plan with the employee paying the difference between the POS rate and the indemnity plan rate. After the first three years of employment, an employee may elect any of the coverages offered by the Board with no premium cost to the employee. Employees hired for July 1, 2003 or thereafter will receive Board paid health insurance in the POS plan only and they shall not have the option to "buy-up" or elect any of the other coverages offered by the Board.

Of the costs of coverage for dental treatment, the Board shall pay one hundred (100%) percent of the premium. Effective July 1, 1998, the deductible under the dental benefits is Fifty (\$50.00) dollars per calendar year, individual and family. Said coverage shall basically provide for the following, although more particularly set forth in the appropriate policy:

One thousand Five Hundred (\$1,500.00) Dollar maximum coverage per year; eighty (80%) percent payment for inlays, gold fillings, crowns and precision attachments for dentures; one hundred (100%) percent payment for all other necessary and reasonable dental expenses; One Thousand Two Hundred (\$1,200.00) Dollars lifetime orthodontic benefit with 50% coinsurance.

- The deductible under the major medical benefits is One Hundred (\$100.00) Dollars an individual, Two Hundred (\$200.00) Dollars family. The lifetime maximum under the major medical portion of the group insurance policy shall be One Million (\$1,000,000) Dollars.
- "Qualified Employees" shall be defined in the context of this Article as full-time personnel, steadily employed by the Board who work not less than 27 nours per calendar week on a regular basis.
- The Board hereby reserves the right to select the insurance carrier but shall at all times maintain the insurance coverage substantially equal to the above specified. Prior to making any change in the carrier or extent of coverage, the Board shall notify the Association and the Association shall have an opportunity to discuss proposed changes with the Board.
- 32.4 Effective July 1, 2003, the Board will provide Section 125 plans for the Association membership.
- 32.4.1 A premium conversion plan will be made available

through payroll deduction for all employees for the amount of their contribution toward medical program premiums. All contributions made through this program are done on a pre-tax basis for federal purposes in accordance with Section 125 laws.

- A flexible spending account plan will be made available 32.4.2 through payroll deduction for any annually contracted employee who wishes to direct an annual amount not to exceed One Thousand Five Hundred Dollars (\$1,500) paid over a monthly basis toward uninsured medical/dental expenses and/or an amount not to exceed that permitted by Section 125 laws for elder/dependent care expenses. The Board will develop a form for an annual selection for any interested employee. The annual selection made by the employee can not be modified during the year. The employee will be responsible for filing for reimbursement for eligible expenses through a third party administrator up to the annual amount specified by the employee. Any funds left over at the end of the each year (June 30) will be returned to the Board. Board will be responsible for the cost of the third , party administrator. The Board shall have the right to select the third party administrator. All contributions made through this program are done on a pre-tax basis for federal purposes in accordance with Section 125 laws.
- A benefits waiver plan will be made available to any 32.4.3 employee who desires to waive their medical and/or dental benefits on an annual basis in exchange for an annual cash incentive. Any employee who opts to waive their medical benefits must provide proof of coverage in order to be eligible for the cash incentive. Board will develop a form for all eligible employees to complete on an annual basis to select their insurance coverage or to waive their right to coverage. The cash incentive to be provided to any employee waiving their insurance is Two Thousand Five Hundred Dollars (\$2,500) for medical benefits and Three Hundred Dollars (\$300) for dental benefits, which shall be prorated for any employee who is employed for less than a full work The annual cash incentive will be paid in two (2) installments in December and June. The annual cash incentive is fully taxable and subject to all required withholding taxes. An employee will be permitted to re-enroll in the respective group insurance plans every July 1 or immediately if the employee provides proof of a life status change. If an employee re-enrolls during the year because of a life status change, the cash incentive will be prorated.

# ARTICLE 33 VOLUNTARY TRANSFERS

- 33.1 Voluntary Transfers
- No later than five (5) working days following the known availability of any position in the District all members of the units shall receive notice, by posting the same in a conspicuous place, regarding the opening. If no application is received within ten (10) days of notice, the position will be filled from the outside.
- Employees who desire a change in assignment or who desire to transfer to another position may file a written statement of such preference at any time with the Superintendent or School Business Administrator. Such statement shall include the present position and the assignment to which he desires to be transferred.
- In the determination of requests for voluntary transfer, the wishes of the individual employee shall be considered to the extent that the transfer does not conflict with the best interest of the school system, and no such request shall be denied arbitrarily or capriciously.
- 33.4 If a request for voluntary transfer is denied, the employee shall be given the reasons.

### ARTICLE 34 SICK LEAVE

- 34.1 All ten-month employees shall be entitled to twelve (12) sick leave days each school year as of the first official day of said school year. Twelve-month employees shall be entitled to fourteen (14) sick leave days.
- 34.2 "Sick Leave" herein shall be defined by N.J.S.A. 18A:30-1.
- 34.3 In the case of sick leave claimed, the Board may require a physician's certificate to be filed with the Secretary of the Board, as provided for in N.J.S.A. 18A:30-4.
- 34.4 Sick Leave Bank
- 34.4.1 The Sick Leave Bank will be operated by Trustees made up of officers of the Association.

- Any Association member may voluntarily join the Bank who is willing to contribute two (2) of his/her personal sick days to the Bank during the enrollment period to be determined by the Trustees from time to time when the Trustees determine the Bank so requires. Said enrollment period shall be from September 1 to September 30 of any school year. New Association members must apply within thirty (30) days of initial employment. The value of each day contributed by a member shall be \$134 and shall be deducted from the maximum amount an employee is entitled to be paid under Article 21.1.2.
- 34.4.3 Participation withdrawal from the Bank may be at any time after donation. Said individual may not withdraw his/her donated sick days. Withdrawal must be done in writing.
- 34.4.4 Individuals may withdraw Bank days from the Bank only after all personal sick days have been used and withdrawal is authorized by the Trustees of the Association and approved by the Board.
- 34.4.5 Application for Bank days may be made only when an individual is affected by a catastrophic illness or accident determined by medical certification. Application will be made to the Trustees.
- 34.4.6 Beginning each school year, an individual unable to return to active duty who is entitled to annual sick leave must draw from his/her annual sick leave accumulation before reapplying to the Bank.
- 34.4.7 At the end of the school year, any unused sick days remaining in the Bank will be carried over to the next year.
- 34.4.8 If, in the judgment of the Trustees, the employee qualifies, the Trustees shall submit the request to the Board of Education. If the Board agrees with the Trustees, the Board will arrange payment to the employee. If the Board rejects the request, the Board will notify the Trustees of the Bank.

- A contributor will be entitled to withdraw up to ninety (90) Bank days in a school year at which time an individual may reapply. N.J.S.A. 18:30-6 will apply when Sick Leave Bank days have been exhausted.
- 34.4.10 Should the Bank be dissolved, each contributing member will receive an equal amount, or fraction thereof, of the remaining Sick Leave Bank days not to exceed the original amount each individual contributed.
- 34.4.11 The parties acknowledge that the decision of the Board shall be final and binding and shall not be reviewable by a court or agency of competent jurisdiction or subject to the grievance procedure of the Agreement.
- 34.4.12 The cost of the substitute or the estimated cost of the substitute shall be deducted from each additional sick day granted. A day's salary is defined as 1/240<sup>th</sup> of the annual salary.
- 34.4.13 The Board and the Association shall maintain a current accounting of the Bank, to include members who have joined, sick leave days utilized and sick leave days on deposit in the Bank. A joint accounting will take place in June of each year.

### ARTICLE 35 LEAVES OF ABSENCE

35.1 Two (2) days personal leave without reason shall be granted, as authorized by the Superintendent, for matters which require absence from work. Application to the Superintendent for personal leave shall be made at least five (5) work days before such leave is to be taken. One (1) of the two (2) personal days, however, may be used for a personal emergency without the five (5) work days notice with the approval of Superintendent. If the anticipated absentee rate on any given day may exceed five percent (5%) of the entire staff, then requests for personal days shall be granted on a first-come first-serve basis, up to the maximum five percent (5%). If not taken, personal leave shall be added to the sick leave bank for retirement, provided that the number of days does not exceed the fifteen (15) day statutory maximum.

A check sheet prepared by the Superintendent will be made available for taking personal/emergency days. Employees will complete the check sheet and forward it, through the Principal, to the Superintendent for

approval according to the terms of this Agreement.

- Personal leave on days immediately preceding or following scheduled school holidays may be granted only for extenuating circumstances at the discretion of the Superintendent.
- 35.1.2 Legal Time necessary for appearances in any legal proceeding connected with the employee's employment or with the school system or for jury duty, or in any other legal proceeding if the employee has been subpoenaed to attend will be granted upon request by the employee who will give reasonable notice.

### 35.1.3 Emergency Days:

In the case of emergency, notification shall be given orally to the Superintendent/principal/tape with written request to be submitted through the principal upon the employee's return to work.

Up to a maximum of five (5) days during one school year in the event of the death of an employee's spouse, brother, sister, child, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, parent, father-in-law, mother-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, grandparent, grandchild, step-parent, step-sibling, and any other member of the immediate household.

Of these five (5) days no more than three (3) days may be used for the above named persons in the event of a serious injury or illness.

Additional leave may be applied for in accordance with 35.1.5. Employees may be granted, at the discretion of the Superintendent, up to two (2) days during one school year in the event of the death of an employee's friend or relative outside the employee's immediate family as defined above. In the event of the death of an employee in the Hillsborough Township School District, the Superintendent may grant to an appropriate number of employee's sufficient time off to attend the funeral.

35.1.4 A temporary leave shall be granted for employees called into active duty for two (2) weeks or less during one calendar year in any unit of the U.S. Reserves or the State National Guard, provided such obligation cannot be fulfilled when the employee is not required to work, and such employee shall be paid the difference between his regular salary and his military pay.

- 35.1.5 Good Cause Other leaves of absence with pay may be granted by the Board, in its discretion, for good and sufficient reasons.
- 35.2 Extended Leaves of Absence
- 35.2.1 Military Military leave without pay shall be granted to any employee who is inducted or enlists in any branch of the armed forces of the United States for the period of said induction or initial enlistment, but in no event in excess of three (3) years.
- 35.2.2 The Board hereby agrees to consider each employee requesting child care leave on an individual basis.
- 35.2.3 A pregnant employee may work until any time before the expected birth, provided that her ability to work effectively is not impaired due to her pregnancy, and, at the discretion of the Superintendent, the employee's requested date of leave commencement does not interfere with the continuity of her duties. Sick leave pay may be applied to that period during the leave of absence which qualifies as medical-disability due to pregnancy or childbirth. The Board may require certificates from the employee's physician and the Board's physician as to her physical ability to continue working during the period of pregnancy. In the event that the employee's physician and the Board's physician disagree as to her physical ability to fulfill her duties, the Board may request expert consultations, in which case the Somerset County Medical Society shall appoint impartial third physician whose medical opinion shall be conclusive and binding. Such examination shall be conducted expediently and without undue delay. The expense of such third examination shall be shared equally by the employee and the Board.
- 35.2.4 The Board will comply with the provisions of the New Jersey Family Leave Act (FLA) and the Federal Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA).

Upon written request at least thirty (30) days is advance, whenever possible, the Board will grant leave pursuant to FLA or FMLA to eligible employees. (Eligibility criteria will be centrally posted in each work location).

35.2.5 Good Cause - Other leaves of absence without pay may be granted by the Board, in its discretion, for good cause.

35.2.6 Return from Leave - Upon return from leave granted pursuant to Section 35.2 of this Article (extended leaves of absences), an employee shall be considered as if he were actively employed by the Board during the period of such leave and shall be placed on the salary schedule at the level he would have achieved if he had not been absent. To be eligible for increment credit, the employee must have worked at least one-half of the preceding contractual year.

# ARTICLE 36 TRANSFERS BETWEEN POSITIONS

In the event an employee shall transfer between various positions in the district, that employee shall be granted the corresponding step on the salary guide applicable to his new position.

# SECTION FOUR

Forms And Salary Guides For All Unit Members

# SCHEDULE A GRIEVANCE FORM

Grievant's Name:	Grievance	∍ No.:
Work Location:	Job Title and G	Grade/Subject:
Immediate Supervisor:		e No.: Grade/Subject:
Description of Alleged Vio	lation:	
Specific Provision of Agre	ement or Principal Areas	Violated:
Date of Occurrence of Alle	ced Violation:	-, -, -, -, -, -, -, -, -, -, -, -, -, -
Remedy Sought:		
****	*********	********
LEVEL ONE: Informal Discus:	sion	
LEVEL ONE: Informal Discuss Date of Level One Informal	Discussion:	
The Grievant is not satisf: Jevel Two.	ied with the outcome of L	evel One and wishes to proceed to
Signature of Grievant or Re	epresentative:	Date:
		******
EVEL TWO: Principal or Sup		
hata Parajuad:	pervisor	Date Answered:
Nieposition Benied		Date Answered: Granted
Reason:		Granced
rincipal or Supervisor's S	Signature	
	led with the outcome of L	evel Two and wishes to proceed to
evel Three.		
signature of Grievant or Re	epresentative:	Date:
<b>~ * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *</b>	*********	**********
EVEL THREE: Superintendent		
Maia Received:		Date Answered:
noposition: Denied		Date Answered: Granted
eason:		, M.
uperintendent's Signature		
		evel Three and wishes to proceed to
evel Four.		
ignature of Grievant or Re	presentative:	Date:
	*****	*********
EVEL FOUR: School Board		
		Board Hearing Date:
ate Answered:		
isposition: Denied		Granted
eason:		
he Grievant is not satisfi evel Five.	ed with the outcome of Le	evel Four and wishes to proceed to
	presentative:	Date:
********	*****	Date:
		outcome at Level Four and the
ssociation wishes to proce	ed to arbitration.	
rievant's Signature:		Date:
.E.A. Representative's Sig	nature:	Date:

# SCHEDULE B

# REQUEST FOR PERSONAL/EMERGENCY DAY

lease pr	THE STATE OF THE S	•	
eme	•	Date of Submission	
hool_		Position	
.•	PERSONAL DAY (S)		
	Date of Personal Day requested at this time		
•	This day of personal leave is for a matter(s) we the Superintendent for personal leave shall be understand that approval of personal days is a	made at least five (5) work days before	such leave is to be taken. Further I
			Employee's Signature
	PERSONAL EMERGENCY DAY	Antoninininininininininininininininininin	
	Date of Personal Emergency		
	Reason		
			Employee's Signature
c,	EMERGENCY DAY (S)		
	Date(s) of Emergency Absence	***	
	The Emergency Day(s) absence was due to Serious family illness (specify reb Funeral (specify relationship)	tionship)	
	•	•	Employee's Signature
D.	FOR ADMINISTRATIVE USE ONLY	**************************************	Margarine of Antonia District to a Ministry of Mark William (Ministry of Antonia) (Ministry of Antonia)
	Date(s) Previously Granted as Personal D	ys this year	
	Date(s) Previously Granted as Personal E		
• :	Date(s) Previously Granted as Emergency	·	
-	Principal's Approval		Date
	initials of Personnel Assistant		Superintendent's Approval

SCHEDULE C

TEACHERS SAEARY GUIDE 2002-2003

Step	ВА	BA+16	BA+30	MA	MA+15	MA+30	MA+45	MA+60	PhD
<del>,</del>	35,360	36,620	37,290	38,740	40,380	42,290	43,930	45,590	48,120
i m	36,440	37,700	38,370	39,820	41,460	43,370	45,010	46,670	49,200
• 🔻	37,520	38,780	39,450	40,900	42,540	44,450	46,090	47,750	50,280
, ro	38,600	39,860	40,530	41,980	43,620	45,530	47,170	48,830	51,360
ယ	39,645	40,905	41,575	43,025	44,665	46,575	48,215	49,875	52,405
	40,760	42,020	42,690	44,140	45,780	47,690	49,330	20,990	53,520
. ∞	41,840	43,100	43,770	45,220	46,860	48,770	50,410	52,070	54,600
ු ග	42,930	44,190	44,860	46,310	47,950	49,860	51,500	53,160	55,690
· 0	45,330	46,590	47,260	48,710	50,350	52,260	53,900	55,560	58,090
<del>-</del>	47,730	48,990	49,660	51,110	52,750	54,660	56,300	57,960	60,490
12	50.720	51,980	52,650	54,100	55,740	57,650	59,290	60,950	63,480
13-14	53,710	54,970	55,640	27,090	58,730	60,640	62,280	63,940	66,470
15-19	57,700	58,960	59,630	61,080	62,720	64,630	66,270	67,930	70,460

Longevity Pay

Longevity pay will be added to teachers' pensionable salaries based on the following criteria:

\$12,000 for teachers with 35 and more years of experience, twenty-five of which are in the Hillsborough School District \$9,000 for teachers with 30-34 years of experience, twenty of which are in the Hillsborough School District \$6,000 for teachers with 25-29 years of experience, ifteen of which are in the Hillsborough School District \$3,000 for teachers with 20-24 years of experience, ten of which are in the Hillsborough School District

SCHEDULE C

TEACHERS SALARY GUIDE 2003-2004

WA+60 PhD	50,230 52,760												4	
MA+45 M.	48,570 5		49,370 5	49,770 5	50,130 5									67,670
MA+30	46,930	47,330	47,730	48,130	48,490	48,930	49,330	49,860	52,260	54,660	57,650	60,640	62,040	66,030
MA+15	45,020	45,420	45,820	46,220	46,580	47,020	47,420	47,950	50,350	52,750	55,740	58,730	60,130	64,120
MA	43,380	43,780	44,180	44,580	44,940	45,380	45,780	46,310	48,710	51,110	54,100	57,090	58,490	62,480
BA+30	41,930	42,330	42,730	43,130	43,490	43,930	44,330	44,860	47,260	49,660	52,650	55,640	57,040	61,030
BA+15	41,260	41,660	42,060	42,460	42,820	43,260	43,660	44,190	46,590	48,990	51,980	54,970	56,370	096,060
ВА	40,000	40,400	40,800	41,200	41,560	42,000	42,400	42,930	45,330	47,730	50,720	53,710	55,110	59,100
Step	*-	2-3	4	Ð	ထ	7	ထ	o	9	=	12	13	4	15-19

Longevity Pay

Lorgevity pay will be added to teachers' pensionable salaries based on the following criteria:

\$12,000 for the chars with 35 and more years of experience, twenty-five of which are in the Hillsborough School District \$9,000 for teadings with 30-34 years of experience, twenty of which are in the Hillsborough School District \$6,000 for teachers with 25-29 years of experience, fifteen of which are in the Hillsborough School District \$3,000 for teachers with 20-24 years of experience, ten of which are in the Hillsborough School District

O HILLINGTON

THAT I SHOW THE STATE OF THE SALARY GOIDE 2004-2005 THE PROPERTY OF THE SALARY COLDS Hawais Palatic Stigger 一人できるとれて、これのないないのである

Step	ВА	BA+15	BA+30	MA	MA+15	MA+30	MA+45	MA+60	
				E. (CI)		*			·
1.2			42,930	44,380	46,020	47,930	49,570	51,230	53,760
34		42,670	43,340	44,790	46,430	48,340	49,980	51,640	54,170
ιc	41,830	43,090	43,760	45,210	46,850	48,760	50,400	52,060	54,590
.φ	42,890	44,150	44,820	46,270	47,910	49,820	51,460	53,120	55,650
<b>!~</b>	43,950	45,210	45,880	47,330	48,970	50,880	52,520	54,180	56,710
8	45,010	46,270	46,940	48,390	50,030	51,940	53,580	55,240	57,770
Ø	46,070	47,330	48,000	49,450	51,090	53,000	54,640	26,300	58,830
10	48,230	49,490	50,160	51,610	53,250	55,160	56,800	58,460	60,990
11	50,510	51,770	52,440	53,890	55,530	57,440	29,080	60,740	63,270
12	52,900	54,160	54,830	56,280	57,920	59,830	61,470	63,130	65,660
55	55,390	56,650	57,320	58,770	60,410	62,320	63,960	65,620	68,150
14	57,980	59,240	59,910	61,360	63,000	64,910	66,550	68,210	70,740
15-19	60,870	62,130	62,800	64,250	65,890	67,800	69,440	71,100	73,630

# Longevity Pay

Longevity pay will be added to teachers' pensionable salaries based on the following criteria:

\$12,000 for teachers with 35 and more years of experience, twenty-five of which are in the Hillsborough School District \$9,000 for teachers with 30-34 years of experience, twenty of which are in the Hillsborough School District \$6,000 for teachers with 25-29 years of experience, fifteen of which are in the Hillsborough School District \$3,000 for teachers with 20-24 years of experience, ten of which are in the Hillsborough School District

HILLSBOROUGH TEACHER GUIDES Conversion/Placement Chart

2004-2005 Step		1-2	3-4	ю	မာ	7	æ	63	10	=	12	13	14	15-19	15-19	15-19	15-19
	•	<b>^</b>	<b>^</b>	<b>^</b>	^	<b>^-</b> 5	<b>^</b>	^	^	<b>****</b>	1	<b>^</b>	<b>^</b>	<b>^&gt;</b>	^	<b>^</b>	<b>~</b>
2003-2004 Step	*	<b></b> -	2-3	4	ιΩ	9	~	80	G	10	7	12	13	<u>\$</u>	15-19	15-19	15-19
,			<b>V</b>	<b>~</b>	^	<b>^</b>	1	<b>^</b>	<b>^</b>	<b>~</b>	1	<b>^</b>	1	<b>\</b>	1	1	<b>^</b>
2002-2003 Step			1-2	က	ব	ស	9	<b>.</b>	8	6	10	Ξ	12	13-14	13-14	15-18	15-19
i			· Constant	Ç	1	^	<	A	^	<b>^</b>	<	1	1	Î	<b>^</b>	<b>^</b>	<b>^</b>
2001-2002 Step	(Кепит.)		<del>*</del>	8	er)	4	ស	Ð	7	œ	6	10		12	75	13	14-19
2001 St	(Original)		Ψ.	73	က	4	រហ	<b>6</b> 0	7	ထ	æ	10	7	12-13*	12-13*	13A	14-19

2003-04, the FTE with the greater years of credited experience will move to Step 15-19, the remaining FTE will move to Step 14. In 2004-05, all staff who started at Step 12-13 in 2001-02 will be on Step 15-19. (The breakdown of staff eligible to move to Step 15-19 and those eligible to move to Step 14 in 2013-04 will be pursuant to the sidebar agreement.) • The FTE on combined Step 12-13 in 2001-02 will move together to Step 13-14 in 2002-03. In

α TINαTHOS

TEN AND TWELVE MONTH OFFICE PERSONNEL SALARY GUIDE 2002-2003

ra V	10 Month Secretaries	12 Month Secretaries	Accounting Clerk	10 Month Data Entry Operator	Payroll Bookkeeper	Head Bookkeeper
2000		The state of the s	{ 	20	78 84E	34 770
,	22 742	27.868	28,568	/co'67	20,02	
7 .	20 003	28.250	28,950	30,039	29,197	32,161
. co	52,023	28,632	29,332	30,421	29,579	32,543
4	23,333	20,02	29.714	30,803	29,961	32,925
ហ	23,640	20,396	30.096	31,185	30,343	33,307
ယ	73,957	70 014	30.614	31,703	30,861	33,825
7-10	24,380	£16'87	31,133	32,222	31,380	34,344
<del>4</del> .	24,803	34 635	32,335	33,424	32,582	35,546
12	25,783	33.740	33.940	35,029	34,187	37,151
13-15	27,090	34,025	35,625	36,714	35,872	38,836
16-19 19A	28,454 29,907	36,695	37,395	38,484	37,642	40,606
	9	ARA RE	39.164	40,253	39,411	42,375
20-24	31,340	41.043	41.743	42,832	41,990	44,954
25-29 30+	34,670	42,540	43,240	44,329	43,487	46,451

SCHEDULE D

TEN AND TWELVE MONTH OFFICE PERSONNEL SALARY GUIDE 2003-2004

Step	10 Month Secretaries	12 Month Secretaries	Accounting Clerk	10 Month Data Entry Operator	Payroll Bookkeeper	Head Bookkeeper
ļ.,	202 60	28 030	29.639	30.728	29,886	32.850
c	24,363	29.518	30,218	31,307	30,465	33,429
C-7	24.387	29,917	30,617	31,706	30,864	33,828
ן ע	24 708	30,316	31,016	32,105	31,263	34,227
, (C	25,033	30,716	31,416	32,505	31,663	34,627
. ^	25.474	31,257	31,957	33,046	32,204	35,168
. 17	25,917	31,800	32,500	33,589	32,747	35,711
12 :	26,940	33,056	33,756	34,845	34,003	36,967
( e)	28.307	34,732	35,432	36,521	35,679	38,643
14-16	29.742	36,494	37,194	38,283	37,441	40,405
17-19A	31,249	38,343	39,043	40,132	39,290	42,254
20-24	32.461	39,830	40,530	41,619	40,777	43,741
25.30	34 638	42.501	43,201	44,290	43,448	46,412
30±	35,901	44,050	44,750	45,839	44,997	47,961

SCHEDULE D

TEN AND TWELVE MONTH OFFICE PERSONNEL SALARY GUIDE 2004-2005

Step	10 Month Secretaries	12 Month Secretaries	Accounting Clerk	10 Month Data Entry Operator	Payroll Bookkeeper	Head Bookkeeper
<u>,</u>	24.741	30,358	31,058	32,147	31,305	34,269
- c	25,236	30,965	31,665	32,754	31,912	34,876
ţ	25,22	31,584	32,284	33,373	32,531	35,495
n «	26,504	32,520	33,220	34,309	33,467	36,431
1 C	27 290	33,484	34,184	35,273	34,431	37,395
~ α	28,72	34,477	35,177	36,266	35,424	38,388
, c	28,033	35,499	36,199	37,288	36,446	39,410
71-15	29,23	36.551	37,251	38,340	37,498	40,462
<u>.</u> 2	30,672	37.634	38,334	39,423	38,581	41,545
- t - r - r - r	21.00	38.750	39,450	40,539	39,697	42,661
18-19A	32,517	39,898	40,598	41,687	40,845	43,809
76.00	33 603	41,230	41,930	43,019	42,177	45,141
25.20	35,856	43.995	44,695	45,784	44,942	47,906
30+	37,163	45,599	46,299	47,388	46,546	49,510

# SCHEDULE E LIBRARY ASSISTANTS SALARY GUIDE

# 2002-2003

Step	Salary
1	23,602
2	24,169
3	24,749
4	25,343
5	25,951

# 2003-2004

Step	Salary
1 .	24,440
2	25,027
3	25,627
4	26,243
5	26,872

Step	Salary
1	25,017
2	25,717
3	26,417
4	27,117
5	27,817

# SCHEDULE F INSTRUCTIONAL ASSISTANTS SALARY GUIDE

# 2002-2003

Step	Daily Rate
1 .	114.44
2	116.96
3	119.53
4: .	122.16

# 2003-2004

Step	Daily Rate
1	117.46
2	120.40
3	123.41
. 4	126.50

Step	Daily Rate
1	121.24
2	124.39
3 ·	127.63
4	130.94

# SCHEDULE G CLERICAL ASSISTANTS SALARY GUIDE

# 2002-2003

Step	Hourly Rate
1	15.96
. 2	16.16
·3	16.36

# 2003-2004

Step	Hourly Rate
1	16.52
2	16.73
3	16.94

<u>Step</u>	Hourly Rate
1	17.13
2	17.33
3	17.53

SCHEDULE H
SALARY GUIDES FOR CUSTODIAL AND MAINTENANCE PERSONNEL
2002-2003

Step	Custodian	Elementary Custodian	M.S. Custodian/ Maintenance/ Mechanic	H.S. Custodian
1	24,800	27,950	32,050	32,650
2	25,370	28,520	32,620	33,220
3	25,970	29,120	33,220	33,820
4	26,570	29,720	33,820	34,420
5	27,120	30,270	34,370	34,970
6	27,640	30,790	34,890	35,490
7	28,462	31,612	35,712	36,312
YA.	29,401	32,551	36,651	37,251
7B	30,372	33,522	37,622	38,222
8	31,374	34,524	38,624	39,224
9	32,472	35,622	39,722	40,322
9 <b>A</b>	33,629	36,779	40,879	41,479
<b>50</b>	34,974	38,124	42,224	42,824
10A	36,533	39,683	43,783	44,383
4	38,177	41,327	45,427	46,027
12	39,971	43,121	47,221	47,821
i3	41,849	44,999	49,099	49,699
14	43,878	47,228	51,983	52,583

SCHEDULE H
SALARY GUIDES FOR CUSTODIAL AND MAINTENANCE PERSONNEL
2003-2004

Step	Custodian	Elementary Custodian	M.S. Custodian/ Maintenance/ Mechanic	H.S. Custodia
1	25,343	28,633	32,933	33,533
2	25,926	29,216	33,516	34,116
3	26,539	29,829	34,129	34,729
4	27,152	30,442	34,742	35,342
5	27,714	31,004	35,304	35,904
6	28,245	31,535	35,835	36,435
7	29,086	32,376	36,676	37,276
7A	30,045	33,335	37,635	38,235
7B	31,037	34,327	38,627	39,227
8	32,061	35,351	39,651	40,251
9	33,183	36,473	40,773	41,373
9A	34,368	37,658	41,958	42,558
10	35,743	39,033	43,333	43,933
10A	37,336	40,626	44,926	45,526
11	39,016	42,306	46,606	47,206
12	40,849	44,139	48,439	<b>49,0</b> 39
13	42,866	46,156	50,456	51,056
14	45,436	48,726	53,226	53,826

SCHEDULE H

SALARY GUIDES FOR CUSTODIAL AND MAINTENANCE PERSONNEL
2004-2005

Step	Custodian	Elementary Custodian	M.S. Custodian/ Maintenance/ Mechanic	H.S. Custodian
	25,800	29,100	33,100	33,700
2	26,342	29,642	33,642	34,242
3	26,895	30,195	34,195	34,795
4 -	27,460	30,760	34,760	35,360
5	28,036	31,336	35,336	35,936
_	28,737	32,037	36,037	36,637
65% 7∂\	29,456	32,756	36,756	37,356
	30,487	33,787	37,787	38,387
7A:	31,554	34,854	38,854	39,454
7B	32,658	35,958	39,958	40,558
8 <sub>2</sub>	33,899	37,199	41,199	41,799
12.44	35,526	38,826	42,826	43,426
9 <u>Ą, ,</u> 10	37,214	40,514	44,514	45,114
10A	38,981	42,281	46,281	46,881
14	40,833	44,133	48,133	48,733
10	42,773	46,073	50,073	50,673
13	44,826	48,126	52,126	52,726
14	47,034	50,334	54,334	54,934

# SCHEDULE I TRANSPORTATION DRIVERS SALARY GUIDE

Step	2002-2003 Hrly Rate	2003-2004 Hrly Rate	2004-2005 Hrly Rate
1	20.45	21.18	21.92
2	20.70	21.44	22.19
3	20.95	21.70	22,46
4	21.20	21.95	22.73
5	21,45	22,21	22.99
6	21.70	22.47	23.26
: 7	21.95	22.73	23.53
8	22.20	22.99 .	23.80
9	22.45	23,25	24.07
10	22.70	23.51	24.33
Transportation	14,44	15,16	<b>1</b> 5.91

SCHEDULE J SALARY GUIDE FOR ATHLETIC COACHES

# ATHLETIC STIPENDS

		HEAT	MEAN COACHES	S	FIRST	FIRST ASSISTANTS	NTS	ASSIS	ASSISTANT COACHES	CHES	MIDDLES	MIDDLE SCHOOL COACHES	CHES	
LEVELI	Year	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	
Football	2002-03 2003-04	8,771 8,946	9,035	9,306	6,140	6,325	6,514	5,701	5,873 5,990	6,049				
	2004-05	9,125	9,400	9,682	<b>6</b> ,388	0,360	0,10	68,0	05.6	0,420		•		
LEVEL II														
Girls Track Boys Track	2002-03 2003-04 2004-05	7,368 7,515 7,566	7,589 7,741 7,896	7,816 7,972 8,132				4,789 4,885 4,983	4,933 5,032 5,132	5,080 5,182 5,286				
LEVELIII														•
Winter Track	2002-03 2003-04 2004-05	7,192 7,336 7,483	7,408 7,556 7,707	7,631 7,784 7,939	5,034 5,135 5,238	5,186 5,289 5,395	5,342 5,449 5,558	4,675 4,768 4,864	4,815 4,912 5,010	4,960 5,059 5,161			٠	
LEVEL IV														
Cheerleading Boys Basketball	2002-03	7,017 7,157 7 and	7,228 7,373 7,520	7,445 7,594 7,746		,		4,561 4,652 4,745	4,698 4,792 4,888	4,839 4,936 5,035	3,649 3,722 3,796	3,759 3,834 3,910	3,871 3,949 4,028	
Giris Baskerbail LEVEL V	20-1-007			<u>.</u>										
Wrestling	2002-03	6,841	7,046	7,258				4,447	4,580	4,718	3,557	3,664	3,774	
	2003-04	7,117	7,331	7,551				4,626	4,765	4,908	3,701		3,927	

		1		e L	FIDST	EIDST ASSISTANTS	NTS	ASSIS	ASSISTANT COACHES	ACHES	MIDDLE SCHOOL COACHES	HOOL COA	CHES
LEVEL VI	Year	Step 1	HEAD COACHES	Step 3	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3
Boys Lacrosse	2002-03 2003-04 2004-05	6,666 6,799 6,935	6,866 7,003 7,143	7,072 7,213 7,358	4,666 4,760 4,855	4,806 4,902 5,000	4,950 5,049 5,150	4,333 4,420 4,508	4,463 4,552 4,643	4,597 4,689 4,783	3,466 3,536 3,606	3,570 3,642 3,715	3,677 3,751 3,826
LEVEL VII			.*										
Boys Soccer Girls Soccer	2002-03 2003-04 2004-05	6,491 6,621 6,753	6,686 6,820 8,958	6,886 7,024 7,164	4,544 4,635 4,727	4,680 4,774 4,869	4,820 4,917 5,015	4,219 4,304 4,390	4,346 4,433 4,521	4,476 4,565 4,657	3,375 3,443 3,512	3,477 3,546 3,617	3,581 3,652 3,725
LEVEL VIII													
Swimming	2002-03 2003-04 2004-05	6,140 6,263 6,388	6,324 6,450 6,579	6,514 6,644 6,777				3,991 4,071 4,152	4,111	4,234 4,319 4,405			,
LEVEL IX										•	;	! : :	
Boys Cross Counti 2002-03 Girls Cross Counti 2003-04 Field Hockey 2004-05 Baseball Softball	2002-03 2003-04 2004-05	5,965 6,084 6,206	6,144 6,287 6,392	6,328 6,455 6,584	4,176 4,259 4,344	4,301 4,387 4,475	4,430 4,518 4,609	3,955 4,034	3,994 4,073 4,155	4,113 4,195 4,279	3,102 3,164 3,227	3,195 3,259 3,324	3,291 3,356 3,423
LEVELX												·	i
Girls Lacrosse	2002-03 2003-04 2004-05	5,438 5,547 5,558	5,602 5,714 5,828	5,770 5,885 6,003				3,535 3,605 3,678	3,641 3,714 3,788	3,751 3,826 3,902		•	

		HEA	HEAD COACHES	S	FIRST	FIRST ASSISTANTS	NTS	ASSIS	ASSISTANT COACHES	CHES	MIDDLES	MIDDLE SCHOOL COACHES	ACHES
LEVEL XI	Year	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3
Girls Tennis	2002-03		4,698					2,965	3,054	3,145			
Boys Tennis	2003-04		4,792	4,936				3,024	3,115	3,208			
	2004-05	4,745	4,888					3,084	3,177	3,272			
LEVEL XII	<i>ŧ</i> .												
Gymnastics	2002-03	4,211	4,337	4,467									
	2003-04	4,295	4,424	4,558									÷
	2004-05	4,381	4,512	4,647								<b>x</b>	
LEVEL XIII													
Goff	2002-03	3,859	3,975	4,094									
	2003-04	3,936	4,055	4,176									
	2004-05	4,015	4,136	4,259									

All current staff are recognized at step for 2001-02. Entry level shall be established by superintendent in consultation with principals and athletic director. There are three(3) years between steps; therefore, it takes seven(7) years to reach step 3.

First Assistants receive 70% of the head coaching position at their own level of experience All other Assistants receive 65% of the head coaching position at their own level of experience Middie School coaches will receive 80% of the asst coaching position at their own level of experience

By way of example: If the football coach were on Step 1 @ \$8,771 but the First Assistant had been in the position for seven or more years, his/her rate of pay would be based upon 70% of the head coaching stipend @ Step 3

# SCHEDULE K CO-CURRICULAR ACTIVITIES STIPENDS

CLUB	2002-2003	2003-2004	2004-2005
HIGH SCHOOL			
Academic Team	\$1,690	\$1,724	<b>\$</b> 1,759
Affirmative Action	\$801	\$817	\$834
Amnesty International (2)	\$801	\$817	\$834
Assistant Band Director	\$2,367	\$2,414	\$2,463
Assistant Robotics	\$1,014	\$1,034	\$1,054
Band Director	\$3,935	\$4,013	\$4,094
Band Front (2)	\$1,894	\$1,932	\$1,971
Biology Team	\$1,690	\$1,724	\$1,759
Bursar	\$3,718	\$3,793	\$3,869
Channel 14	\$1,623	\$1,656	\$1,689
Chemistry Team	\$1,690	\$1,724	\$1,759
Choreographer	\$2,029	\$2,070	\$2,111
Drill Team	\$1,093	\$1,115	\$1,137
Earth Science Team	\$1,690	\$1,724]	\$1,759
Forum (Jr. State of America)	\$961	\$980	\$1,900
French Honor Society	\$428	\$437	\$445
Freshmen Class	\$1,623	\$1,658	\$1,689
Freshman Transition Advisors (4)	\$500	\$510	\$520
German Honor Society	\$428	\$437	\$445
HS Diversity (2)	\$801	\$817	\$834
HS Fine Arts Calendar	\$640	\$652	\$665
HS Jazz Band	\$2,243	\$2,288	\$2,334
HS Magic Club	\$765	\$781	\$796
HS Model U.N. (3)	\$1,388	\$1,416	\$1,444
HS PEP (Philosophy)	\$770	\$786	\$802
HS PUSH	\$897	\$915	\$933
Interact	\$801	\$817	\$834
Italian Honor Society	\$428	\$437	\$445
Junior Class (2)	\$1,894	\$1,932	\$1,971
Junior Drama (2)	\$1,962	\$2,001	\$2,041
Latin Honor Society	\$428	\$437	\$445
Literacy Magazine	\$1,488	\$1,518	\$1,548
Math Team	\$1,690	\$1,724	\$1,759
Mock Trial	\$961	\$980	\$1,000
Model Congress (3)	\$1,093	\$1,115	\$1,137
Musical Set Construction	\$1,480	\$1,518	\$1,548
Musical Stage Director	\$1,662	\$2,00%	أرجم عمر
National Art Honor Society	\$640	\$652	<b>\$</b> 5400
National Honor Society	\$2,500	\$2,550	\$2,601
Newspaper	\$2,163	\$2,206	\$2,250
Physics Team	\$1,690	\$1,724	\$1,759
Powerlifting	\$1,690	\$1,724	\$1,759
Regional/All State Band	\$577	\$589	\$600
Regional/All State Chorus	\$577	\$589	\$600
Robotics	\$1,690	\$1,724	\$1,759
Roller Hockey	\$1,093	\$1,115	\$1,137
Rutgers Challenge	\$1,014	\$1,034	\$1,054
School Musical	\$3,448	\$3,517	\$3,588
Science Olympiad	\$1,690	\$1,724	\$1,759
Senior Class (2)	\$2,299	\$2,345	\$2,392
Sophomore Class (2)	\$1,623	\$1,656	\$1,689
Spanish Honor Society	\$428	\$437	\$445
Stage Equipment	\$640	\$652	\$665
Student Council (2)	\$1,749	\$1,784	\$1,820
SUFFER	\$801	\$817	\$834
Tri-M National Music Honor Soc.	\$640	\$652	\$665
	\$801	\$817	\$834
Writer's Circle YCAL	\$801	\$817	\$834
HAAL	1 7001]	\$3,174	\$3,237

# SCHEDULE K CO-CURRICULAR ACTIVITIES STIPENOS

CLUB	2002-2003	2003-2004	2004-2005
MIDDLE SCHOOL			
Grade B Class	\$2,774	\$2,829	\$2,886
MS Drama: Club (2) @	\$1,410	\$1,438	<b>*\$1,467</b>
MS Jazz Band	\$1,539	\$1,570	\$1,601
MS Newspaper	\$1,825	\$1,862	\$1,899
Robolics	\$1,352	\$1,379	\$1,407
Student Council (2) @	\$1,399	\$1,427	\$1,455
Singly Conic (5) @	\$2,774	\$2,829	\$2,886
Science Olympiad MS Yearbook	\$2,029	\$2,070	\$2,111
Regional Intermediate Band	\$577	\$589	\$800
Regional Intermediate Chorus	\$577	\$589	\$600
Student Council Band/Orchestra Chorus Yearbook	\$1,000 \$1,000 \$500 \$900	\$1,020 \$1,020 \$510 \$918	\$1,040 \$520 \$936
ELEMENTARY Family, Math	\$100 per leacher - sess	sion for duration of agn	eement
	\$100 per lancher - sest	sion for duration of agri	eement
Family Science	\$100 per teacher - sess \$100 per teacher - sess	sion for duration of agri	eement eement
Family Science Family Tools & Technology: DISTRICT	\$100 per teacher - sess	sion for duration of agri	ement.
Family Science Family Tools & Tachnology:	\$100 per teacher - ses: \$100 per teacher - ses: \$2,774 \$3,498	sion for duration of agri sion for duration of agri \$2,829 \$3,568	\$2,886 \$3,639

# SCHEDULE L PERMANENT SCHOOL AIDES SALARY GUIDE

### 2002-2003

Step	Hourly Rate
1	12.59
2	12.97
3	13.36
4	13.76
5	14.17

#### 2003-2004

4 4 4 4	
Step	Hourly Rate
1	12.97
2	13.36
3	13.76
4	14.17
5	14.60

# 2004-2005

Step	Hourly Rate
1	13.36
2	13.76
3	14.18
4	14.60
5	15.04

Permanent School Aides who were employed in the District in the 2002-2003 school year will be placed on Step 5 in 2002-2003. New hires in 2003-2004 shall be placed on Step 1.

#### ADDITIONAL ITEMS

# I. Class Coverage

A. Teachers will receive the following amounts per class during their conference and preparation time during the term of the Agreement.

# School

High School (50 min.) \$19.33

Middle School (40 min.) \$15.49 and Elementary

# II. Chaperone Stipend

The following stipend per event shall be paid during the time of this Agreement: \$43.04

IN WITNESS THEREOF we have hereunto set our hands and seals the day and year first above written, and all officers whose signatures are affixed hereto verify that this Agreement has been ratified by each respective party and such officer is authorized to affix his signature hereto.

Hillsborough Education Association

The Board of Education of the Township of Hillsborough

Barbara Parker President Lou Possemato President

Document prepared by Barbara Parker for the Association, and Virginia Gittelman, Ed. D., for the Board.